THESIS ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES B208

Cyclopentane-1,2-dione and Cyclopent-2-en-1-one in Asymmetric Organocatalytic Reactions

GERT PREEGEL



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Faculty of Science Department of Chemistry

This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on March 22, 2016.

Supervisors:	Prof. Margus Lopp, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia		
	Research Professor Tõnis Pehk, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Estonia		
Reviewed by:	Dr. Ly Villo, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia		
Opponents:	Prof. Ari Koskinen, Department of Chemistry, Aalto University School of Chemical Technology, Finland		
	Assoc. Prof. Uno Mäeorg, Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia		
	the second second		

Defence of the thesis: 27th of May 2016

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for any academic degree.

/Gert Preegel/





Copyright: Gert Preegel, 2016 ISSN 1406-4723 ISBN 978-9949-23-938-2 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-23-939-9 (PDF) LOODUS- JA TÄPPISTEADUSED B208

Tsüklopentaan-1,2-diooni ja tsüklopent-2-een-1-ooni asümmeetrilised organokatalüütilised reaktsioonid

GERT PREEGEL



Contents

List of Publications	
Abbreviations	
Introduction 10	
1. Literature Overview	
1.1. Cyclic carbonyl compounds	13
1.1.1. Functionalization of 1,2-diketones	13
1.2. Organocatalytic reactions and catalysts	15
1.2.1. Cinchona alkaloids	18
1.2.2. Cinchona-based primary amine catalysts	21
1.2.3. H-bonding donor catalysts	24
1.3. Michael reactions of 1,2-diketones	27
1.4. Organocatalyzed Cycloadditions	29
1.4.1. Diels-Alder cycloaddition	29
1.5. Summary of literature overview	33
2. Aims of the present work	
3. Results and Discussion	
3.1. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael addition of Cyclopentane-1,2-dione	34
3.1.1 Nitroolefins as Michael acceptors	34
3.1.2. (E)-2-oxobut-3-enoates as Michael acceptors	39
3.2. Asymmetric organocatalytic Diels-Alder reactions with cyclopentenone to different electron-deficient olefins	44
3.2.1. Preliminary results	44

3.2.2. Screening of optimal conditions	44
3.2.3. Reaction scope	46
Conclusions	52
References	53
Publication I	59
Publication II	67
Publication III	77
Abstract	85
Kokkuvõte	86
Acknowledgements	87
Elulookirjeldus	88
Curriculum Vitae	90
Original Publications	92

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I Preegel, G.; Noole, A.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. "Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopentane-1,2diones to Nitroolefins" *Synthesis*, 2014, **46**, 2595–2600.
- II Preegel, G.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. "Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition-Cyclization Cascade of Cyclopentane-1,2-dione with Substituted (E)-2-oxobut-3-enoates" Synthesis, 2015, 47, 3805–3812.
- III Mose, R.; Jensen, M. E.; Preegel, G.; Jørgensen K. A. "Direct Access to Multifunctionaliaed Norcamphor Scaffolds by Asymmetric Organocatalytic Diels-Alder Reactions" Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2015, 54, 13630–13634.

Author's Contribution to the Publications

The contributions by the author to the papers included in the thesis are as follows:

I – The idea for this project originated with Artur Noole. I carried out the screening, scope, analysis and writing of the manuscript draft. I also participated in the final manuscript preparation.

II - I participated in the planning of experiments, carried out the screening and the scope and characterized the products. I wrote the manuscript draft and participated in the final manuscript preparation.

III – The idea for the project originated with Rasmus Mose. The screening was performed by Rasmus. The scope of the chalcones and the crystal X-ray analysis were performed by Magnus. The scope and further transformations of nitroolefins were carried out by me. The manuscript draft was written by Rasmus Mose.

ABBREVIATIONS

Ac	acetyl
Ar	aryl
Bn	benzyl
Вос	tert-butyloxycarbonyl
°C	degrees Celsius
m-CBPA	meta-chloroperoxybenzoic acid
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
dr	diastereomeric ratio
E	electophile
ee	enantiomeric excess
Et	ethyl
EWG	electron-withdrawing group
FCC	flash column chromatography
5-HMF	5-hydroxymethyl-2-furfural
НОМО	highest occupied molecular orbital
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
In situ	in original location
LUMO	lowest unoccupied molecular orbital
Me	methyl
p-NBA	para-nitrobenzoic acid
NBS	<i>N</i> -Bromosuccinimide

NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance			
Nu	nucleophile			
Org cat	organocatalytic			
OTf	trifluoromethanesulfonate			
Ph	phenyl			
PPG	poly(propylene glycol)			
<i>i</i> Pr	isopropyl			
rt	room temperature			
SA	salicylic acid			
SOMO	singly occupied molecular orbital			
TBAF	t <i>etra</i> -N-butylammonium fluoride			
TBS	tert-Butyldimethylsilyl			
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid			
THF	tetrahydrofuran			
Tos	para-toluenesulfonyl			
UPC ²	ultraperformance convergence chromatography			

INTRODUCTION

Due to the rising importance of renewable energy, the paradigm of oil as having a monopoly on carbon and energy resources has been changing for almost two decades. In particular, the oldest source of exploited renewable energy – biomass – which can be used as an energy resource and also as a raw material for making different precursors for the medical industry, has received great attention. Although biomass as an energy resource is not yet economically competitive compared to other renewable energy resources, the concept of using biomass as a raw material for the chemical industry has recently become a possibility for diversifying the selection of chemical precursors. Taking into account that global bio-fuel production in 2013 was around 110 billion litres, and that it is produced on 0.01% of the whole agricultural land, the potential of biomass is obvious.

Biomass has been the focus of research for decades in the search for the grand project, and what to do with biomass as a carbon source for the chemical industry. One of the most prominent plans in the field of biomass usage is the conversion of biomass into chemically viable 5-hydroxymethyl-2-furfural (5-HMF), which can be used in further derivatizations (Scheme 1).



Scheme 1. Possible 5-HMF derivatives

One of the conversions that has been somehow overlooked is selectively converting biomass via 5-HMF into cyclopentanone **1** and cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2**.¹ These compounds both can be converted to cyclopentane-1,2-diones.² Nowadays these compounds are used as precursors for making additives to increase the volumetric heating value of conventional bio-jet fuels.³ How productive is it to burn this valuable material at an altitude of 10000 meters? We support the concept of using these molecules as starting materials/platform molecules for making new high value-added fine chemicals in an efficient and green– organocatalytic way.



Scheme 2. Possibilities for further derivatization of 1 and 2

Our group has shown that 3-alkylcyclopentane-1,2-diones are adequate starting materials for a natural product, such as homocitric acid⁴ or lycoperdic acid,⁵ or for nucleoside derivatives having antiviral activity. ⁶ In food chemistry, 3-methyl-cyclopentane-1,2-dione, also known as cyclotene, is used as a flavouring agent that has the aroma of coffee. It is known that many cyclic vicinal diketones possess the quality of having coffee-, tobacco- or caramel-like aromas.⁷ The easiest way to get hold of cyclopentane-1,2-dione is through aldol-condensation cyclopentanone **1**, giving a bicyclic intermediate that can be ozonolysed to cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** and the starting material cyclopentanone **1**.^{2a}

This thesis examines how cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** and cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** can be used in different asymmetric organocatalytic reactions to produce more complex chiral molecules and intermediates for the fine chemical industry.

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

In this section, an overview of the derivatization of cyclic 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds, organocatalytic reactions with common catalysts used in transformations, and the Diels-Alder cycloaddition is given.

1.1. CYCLIC CARBONYL COMPOUNDS

The carbonyl group has been one of the most popular moieties to functionalize in chemistry and is one of the most abundant functional groups found in nature. Although there have been numerous examples of the functionalization of ketones, somehow only a few research groups have focused on vicinal dicarbonyl compounds. We focus here only on examples of the α -alkylation/functionalization of dicarbonyl compounds.

1.1.1. FUNCTIONALIZATION OF 1,2-DIKETONES

In the present chapter, we concentrate on the substitution reaction of cyclic 1,2diketone in the α -position. Cyclic 1,2-diketones have distinctive keto-enol tautomerization between two different tautomers, shown in Scheme 3. As a result of this equilibrium, the nucleophilicity of 1,2-diketones is lowered.



Scheme 3. Keto-enol tautomerization of cyclic 1,2-diketones

Most of the reported reactions require substantial activation of the 1,2-diketone via derivatization to overcome the activation barrier. Hooker condensation between 2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone and aliphatic aldehyde was the first 1,2-diketone α -alkylation reaction (Scheme 4).⁸ Other possibilities of assembling α -substituted 1,2-diketones are presented below. A Heck coupling reaction has been used to produce 3-alkylated product between 2-hydroxy-3-iodo-1,4-naphthoquinone and electron-deficient alkenes. ⁹ Additionally, a Sonogashira coupling of 2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone-3-halides has been used.¹⁰A gold-catalyzed Nazarov reaction was used to build the above-mentioned products in moderate yield.¹¹ Isotetronic acid halide derivates can give α -addition reactions in Suzuki couplings.¹² 3-triflate replacement in 2-arylchromones by a Stille coupling has been reported.¹³



Scheme 4. First α -alkylation reaction published by Hooker

Our group has shown that Negishi⁵ and Sonogashira¹⁴ cross-coupling reactions can be performed with different substitutions to the five-membered vicinal diketone, giving 3-alkylated product (Scheme 5).



Scheme 5. Cross-coupling reactions of cyclopentane-1,2-dione derivates

It has also been shown that a Mukaiyama-Michael addition reaction can be performed in an organocatalytic way with cyclopentenol-silyl-ethers to α,β -unsaturated aldehydes.¹⁵ Although this involves an organocatalytic reaction, the work required to make cyclopentenol-silyl-ether is laborious and the overall yield of the substituted chiral product is moderate. However, the enantioselectivity of the reaction is good (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6. Mukaiyama-Michael addition reaction by Reile et al.

To our knowledge, no direct α -alkylation of cyclopentane-1,2-diones in an organocatalytic manner has been reported in the literature before.

1.2. ORGANOCATALYTIC REACTIONS AND CATALYSTS

For the preparation of enantioenriched compounds, there are two different approaches: achiral synthesis together with the chiral resolution of racemate, or asymmetric synthesis from achiral starting compounds. The chiral compounds can be elaborated in three different ways: by using starting materials from natural chiral pools, by using a chiral auxiliary, and by using a chiral catalyst. The last of these mentioned ways is the most cost-effective and environmentally friendly. For that reason, the use of chiral catalysts has been the focus of asymmetric synthetic chemistry for decades.¹⁶ William S. Knowles, Ryoji Noyori and K. Barry Sharpless were awarded the Nobel Prize in 2001 for their work on catalytic asymmetric reactions.¹⁷

Together with asymmetric metal-catalysis and bio-catalysis, organocatalysis is being considered as a third pillar of asymmetric catalysis, having several benefits: easy to handle, cost effective, non-toxic, simple to use, and the catalysts are stable in air and water. The possibility of obtaining both enantiomers by organocatalysis is especially attractive for the pharmaceutical industry in the preparation of non-metal-contaminated chiral intermediates and products.¹⁸

At the present time, a large number of different organocatalysts have been employed in the development of new asymmetric transformations, including Brønsted acids¹⁹ and bases²⁰, Lewis acids²¹ and bases²², phase-transfer catalysts²³, hydrogen-bonding catalysts,²⁴ asymmetric counter anion-directing catalysts,²⁵ and covalent catalysts.²⁶ As noted above, many organocatalytic pathways with different catalysts have been found. However, we focused on two organocatalytic activation modes: aminocatalysis and hydrogen-bonding catalysis.

In hydrogen bonding catalysis, a chiral H-donor catalyst will decrease the LUMO level of electrophile through a hydrogen bond, making the electrophile more prone to accept the enantiofacial attack of a carbon nucleophile. After a nucleophilic addition reaction, the catalyst will be deliberated and ready to enter into a new catalytic cycle (Scheme 7).²⁷



Scheme 7. General concept of hydrogen-bond catalysis and the activation of nitro and carbonyl moieties

Primary and secondary amine catalysts have a key position in aminocatalysis. There are a few known possibilities of activating the starting material in aminocatalysis: enamine activation by raising the energy of HOMO, iminium ion activation by lowering the energy of LUMO, and SOMO activation (Scheme 8). There have been numerous studies discussing the activation mechanism, and the HOMO and LUMO activations. The main concept is presented in Schemes 9 and 10.



Scheme 8. Three activation possibilities in aminocatalysis

The first LUMO-lowering strategy developed for organocatalysis was the iminium-ion catalysis. This type of catalysis is based on the ability to activate a carbonyl-based Michael-acceptor with an amine catalyst, forming the more reactive iminium-ion species. The iminium-ion reaction with a nucleophile under mild conditions follows.

As shown in Scheme 9, the general mechanism for iminium activation begins with the condensation of the catalyst **4** and carbonyl compound **5**. Water is discharged and iminium-ion **6** is generated. These activated species can be attacked by a nucleophile forming an enamine intermediate **7**. Protonation at α -position generates iminium-ion **8**, which upon hydrolysis by *in situ* generated water forms a β -functionalized product **9** and deliberates the catalyst **4**, which is ready to enter into the next catalytic cycle.



Scheme 9. General mechanistic cycle of iminium ion activation

The catalytic cycle of the enamine-mediated α -functionalization starts with the condensation of the catalyst **4** and carbonyl compound **10**. Water is discharged and an iminium-ion **11** is generated. Deprotonation of **11** affords an enamine intermediate **12**, which performs as a nucleophile by attacking an electrophile and forming an iminium-ion intermediate **13**. The hydrolysis of the iminium-ion **13** releases the functionalized aldehyde **14**. Furthermore, the catalyst **4** is deliberated and can participate in the next catalytic cycle (Scheme 10).



Scheme 10. General mechanistic cycle of enamine activation

1.2.1. CINCHONA ALKALOIDS

Cinchona alkaloids can be extracted from the bark of *Cinchona* and *Remijia* genus plants, which are found in South America.²⁸ One of the species of *cinchona* can also be found on the Coat of Arms of Peru (Figure 1). Among many bioactivities,²⁸ *Cinchona* alkaloids show antimalarial activity and have been used since the 17th century.²⁹ It was the first effective chemical compound used for the treatment of an infectious disease.²⁹



Figure 1. Coat of Arms of Peru with depicted Cinchona tree

The biggest concentration of *Cinchona* alkaloids in tree bark is in the species *Cinchona ledgeriana*, and over 700 metric tons is annually extracted from the tree bark.³⁰

Although *Cinchona* bark has been used since the 17th century, the first isolation and determination of quinine from the bark was performed in 1820 by two French chemists, Pierre-Joseph Pelletier and Joseph-Bienaime Caventou.³¹ Louis Pasteur in 1853 was the first to use quinine in the resolution of racemates.³²

One hundred and twenty-four years after the first isolation of quinine, Woodward et al. performed the first total synthesis of quinine in 1944,³³ and in 2001 the first stereocontrolled total synthesis of natural alkaloid was published by Stork and his co-workers.³⁴

Nowadays, the *Cinchona* alkaloids are widely used as organic chirality inducers in many catalytic reactions. By using this compound or its derivatives in homogeneous or heterogeneous catalysis, one can generate C-C, C-O and C-X bonds in an asymmetric way in a synthesis of numerous chiral compounds.

The chemical properties of *Cinchona* alkaloid can be further elaborated and fine-tuned. Quinuclidine nitrogen can be used as a chiral base or in a protonated form as a cation which, together with an anion, can be used as a phase-transfer catalyst. Also, its terminal vinyl moiety can be used for the immobilization of the catalyst to achieve enhanced rigidity of the molecule. The secondary alcohol moiety of the compound is mostly used as an H-bond donor and can be easily derivatized to afford a series of primary amine and thiourea organocatalysts. Different properties of *Cinchona* alkaloids are illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Properties of quinine structural units

The first reactions where Cinchona alkaloids were used as bifunctional catalysts were performed in the 70s by the Wynberg group, showing the enantioselective addition of aromatic thiols to conjugated cycloalkenones³⁵ and a Michael addition to methyl vinyl ketones and aldehydes³⁶ (Scheme 11). Wynberg's Michael addition reaction was, to our knowledge, the first asymmetric Michael addition reaction with determined enantiomeric excess^{35b}, although the first chiral Michael addition reaction was published in 1973 by Swedish researchers, who used optically active 2-(hydroxymethyl)quinuclidine as a catalyst.³⁷ Wynberg's proposed mechanism was found to be quite close to the optimum reaction mechanism found by Houk.³⁸



87 - 93 %, 56 - 68 % ee

Scheme 11. Wynberg's work on a Michael reaction^{35,36}

Commonly used Cinchona alkaloids are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Common alkaloids found in *Cinchona* tree bark

1.2.2. CINCHONA-BASED PRIMARY AMINE CATALYSTS

The primary amine catalyst is one of the oldest catalytic motifs in nature.³⁹ A lot of effort has been put into finding different primary amine catalysts acting as natural mimics for asymmetric chemical synthesis. In this section, we focus on the development of *Cinchona*-based primary amine catalysts.

In a search for general *Cinchona*-based amino-catalysts the amino group is inserted into the *Cinchona* structure. The first milestone enantiopure 9-amino(9-deoxy)cinchona alkaloid was prepared in 1995 by Brunner et al. using *Cinchona* alkaloids as a precursor for the Mitsunobu-Staudinger reaction sequence, giving primary amine catalysts in 60 % yield.⁴⁰

The prime purpose of a catalyst is to functionalize carbonyl compounds (aldehydes and ketones) in different reactions, and to afford excellent yields and stereoselectivity.

Primary amines are capable of overcoming the difficulties of secondary amine catalysts in generating congested covalent intermediates with bulkier carbonyl compounds, particularly with α , β -unsaturated ketones and α -substituted α , β -unsaturated aldehydes.⁴¹

Also, a high degree of flexibility in the primary amine catalyst is a major benefit for finding a suitable conformer for a specific reaction by changing the solvent⁴² or protonating the quinuclidine moiety.⁴³

In 2007, Ying-Chun Chen published the first paper where a 9-amino-9-deoxyepiquinine **21** catalyst was used in a highly asymmetric Michael addition reaction between α , α -dicyanoalkene and α , β -unsaturated ketones (Scheme 12). It was mentioned in their article that secondary amine catalysts did not give any result related to the bulkiness of the secondary amine.⁴⁴ So, they used iminium ion activation of α , β -unsaturated ketones with a primary amine catalyst. Generally, acid is used as an additive in order to enhance the catalytic turnover by accelerating the condensation of catalyst to the carbonyl group. It has been noted that a twofold excess of acid is commonly used to achieve iminium ion activation. It is worth taking into consideration that an equimolar amount of acid is usually needed to create enamine activation.



Scheme 12. Asymmetric Michael reaction of α, α -dicyanoalkene and α, β -unsaturated ketones⁴⁴

In 2007 Melchiorre et al. published two papers on the use of α , β -unsaturated ketones in the Friedel – Crafts alkylation of indole reaction⁴⁵ and on a β -hydroxylation reaction⁴⁶ that yielded highly enantioselective products in the iminium ion activation of α , β -unsaturated ketones (Scheme 13). In both reactions, a salt which consisted of 9-amino(9-deoxy)epi-hydroquinine cation and a chiral (*R*)-N-Boc phenylglycine counterion was used.



Scheme 13. Iminium ion activation of α,β -unsaturated ketones in asymmetric synthesis^{45,46}

In the same year, Connon and McCooey⁴⁷ published the first Michael addition reaction using *Cinchona* alkaloid as a primary amine catalyst to activate ketones and α -substituted aldehydes through enamine activation to obtain products in high stereoselectivity (Scheme 14).



19 examples 71 - 99 %, 2:1 - >20:1 dr, 66 - 99 % ee

Scheme 14. Michael reaction using enamine activation⁴⁷

Over time, different $C^{-41} N^{-48} O^{-49}$ and S^{-50} centred nucleophiles have been used in addition reactions to enones.

Commonly used *Cinchona*-based primary amines are shown in Figure 4. As mentioned above, other frequently used derivatizations of the *Cinchona* alkaloid moieties are cleavage of the ether functionality on the quinoline structure to the hydroxyl group and hydrogenation of the vinylic double bond.



Figure 4. Common primary amines derived from Cinchona alkaloids

1.2.3. H-BONDING DONOR CATALYSTS

The other broad group of catalysts are H-bonding donor catalysts. The evident benefits of these catalysts are high catalytic output, stability in air and water, and reusability. Similarly to aminocatalysis, the role of H-bonding catalysts is to activate carbonyl groups in chemical reactions.

The thiourea group, having hydrogen coordinative properties, is one of the most used H-bonding donor moieties in organocatalysis. There are numerous reviews and books on the scope of using the concept of weak hydrogen-bond activation and coordination to activate various substrates in organocatalytic reactions. Here we present only a few examples from the H-bonding catalyst development.⁵¹

In 2002 Schreiner's group was the first to apply the hydrogen-bonding donor catalyst using a thiourea moiety to activate N-acyloxazolidinone in a Diels-Alder reaction with cyclopentadiene (Scheme 15).⁵²



Scheme 15. Thiourea moiety in H-bond donor catalysis⁵²

In 2003 Takemoto and co-workers introduced the first enantioselective Michael addition of malonates to nitroolefins using an asymmetric bifunctional H-bonding organocatalysts, giving high to excellent yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 16).⁵³ A thiourea moiety is expected to coordinate to nitro olefins and a tertiary amine to a nucleophile.



Scheme 16. Takemoto bifunctional catalyst in Michael reaction⁵³

The Hungarian professor Soos and his co-workers reported in 2005 the use of a new type of *Cinchona* alkaloid-derived chiral bifunctional thiourea organocatalyst **35**, which combined H-bonding catalyst capability to coordinate the electrophile with a sterically complex *Cinchona* alkaloid moiety to the coordinate nucleophile, to afford a highly efficient reaction with excellent enantioselectivity (Scheme 17).⁵⁴



Scheme 17. Soos-type catalyst in a Michael addition⁵⁴

Although in organocatalysis thiourea was widely dominant, a new type of catalyst **36** was reported in 2008 by Rawal et al.⁵⁵ The idea was based on the difference of H-bond distances in thiourea catalysts (according to calculations, around 2.13 Å) and squaramide (an H-bond distance of 0.6 Å longer), which broadens the scope of H-bonding catalysis and therefore opens up opportunities to use new types of starting materials for activation (Figure 5 and Scheme 18).⁵⁵



Figure 5. H-bond distance difference



65- 99%, 77 - 99% ee

Scheme 18. Squaramide catalyst in a Michael reaction⁵⁵

Recently, Steven R. Kass reported a new class of thiourea catalysts based on Schreiner's thiourea but changing bis(3,5-bis(triflouromethyl)phenyl groups to di-N-methylpyridinium ions, which makes it possible to enhance the thiourea catalyst activity up to 400 times, as shown in Table 1.5^{6}

Table 1: Activity of Schreiner's type thiourea catalysts⁵⁶



Entry	Cal.	K (IVI - II -)	$K(1V1^{-}11^{-})$ $l_{1/2}(11)$	
1		2.8 x 10 ⁻³	1100	
2	37	3.9 x 10 ⁻³	820	0.035
3	33	1.1 x 10 ⁻¹	29	1.0
4	38	7.1 x 10 ⁻¹	4.5	6.5
5	39	45	0.071 (4.3 m)	410

1.3. MICHAEL REACTIONS OF 1,2-DIKETONES

Arthur Michael published the first 1,4-addition reaction as early as in 1887.⁵⁷ Since then, enormous work has been done investigating the possibilities of the reaction. In this overview, Michael addition reactions of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds are not discussed. Surprisingly, 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds have been almost neglected by the scientific community. Due to keto-enol tautomerization, these compounds can be characterized as Michael donors and acceptors. To the best of our knowledge, there are no examples of the reactions of five-membered cyclic 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds in organocatalytic Michael additions to different electrophiles. There are only a few examples of 6-membered cyclic 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds used in organocatalytic

Michael reactions to different Michael acceptors: to α , β -unsaturated aldehydes⁵⁸, nitroalkenes⁵⁹ and ketoesters⁶⁰ (Scheme 19).



Scheme 19. Some examples of 1,2-dicarbonyl Michael additions⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰

1.4. ORGANOCATALYZED CYCLOADDITIONS

The first [4+2] cycloaddition reaction between cyclopentadiene and 1,4-benzoquinone was published in 1928 by Otto Paul Hermann Diels and Kurt Alder.⁶¹ For that achievement, they were awarded the Nobel Prize in 1950. Since then, numerous cycloaddition examples have been published. The reaction has remained one of the most influential organic transformations in the field. Although, cycloaddition has been well-known and well-studied for a long time, organocatalytic cycloadditions have been reported only recently, along with the increasing expansion of organocatalysis in organic synthesis. The present overview will focus on organocatalytic Diels-Alder cycloadditions.

1.4.1. DIELS-ALDER CYCLOADDITION

In 1989 the first asymmetric organocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction between anthrone and N-methyl maleimide, using *Cinchona* alkaloid **16** as a catalyst, was published (Scheme 20). It appeared as a single reaction product article.⁶²



Scheme 20. First asymmetric organocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction⁶²

In 1998 Serebryakov⁶³ published the first aminocatalytic asymmetric Diels-Alder reaction by activating α , β -unsaturated aldehyde (3-methyl-butenal) *in situ* with secondary amines by generating a more reactive dienal functionality, which reacts with dienophiles, giving a chiral [4+2] product (Scheme 21). The article also emphasizes the importance of hydrogen bond formation in the mechanism of stereoinduction.



Scheme 21. First asymmetric aminocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction⁶³

In 2002 Barbas et al. published the first organocatalytic asymmetric Diels-Alder reaction of α,β -unsaturated ketones with nitro olefins by activating ketones through a cross-dienamine activation strategy (Scheme 22).⁶⁴



Scheme 22. Diels-Alder reaction α , β -unsaturated ketones with nitro olefins⁶⁴

In 2000, Prof. MacMillan published the results of the first [4+2] cycloaddition performed in a highly enantioselective organocatalytic manner. α , β -unsaturated aldehydes were activated by an imidazolidinone organocatalysts, providing LUMO lowering activation; these reacted with various dienes, giving a Diels-Alder cycloaddition in excellent yield and enantioselectivity, although without *exo-endo* selectivity (Scheme 23).⁶⁵





MacMillan continued with the investigation of Diels-Alder cycloadditions and a few years later reported the first enantioselective organocatalytic [4+2] cycloaddition of α , β -unsaturated ketones with dienes using a modified imidazolidinone salt catalyst to lower the LUMO of ketones by forming an iminium ion.⁶⁶ In the study, they also showed the possibility of conducting a [4+2] cycloaddition with various cyclic α , β -unsaturated ketones, as shown in Scheme 24.



Scheme 24. Iminium ion activation of keto-enones in a Diels-Alder reaction⁶⁶

Cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** has been used in Diels-Alder reactions with different dienophiles acting as the 4π diene. Cross-dienamine activation has been used to enhance the HOMO activation of cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2**.

In 2005 Córdova et al. demonstrated the first direct organocatalytic one-pot threecomponent asymmetric aza-Diels-Alder reaction with high stereoselectivity, using (*S*)proline as a catalyst.⁶⁷ It is important to mention that cyclohex-2-en-1-one as a precursor for 4π diene gave excellent results, while cyclopent-2-en-1-one gave very poor results (Scheme 25, top right). Some years later, Wang et al.⁶⁸ and Carter et al.⁶⁹ reported the same results.

In 2007 Córdova et al. reported, to the best of our knowledge, the first cross-dienamine activated asymmetric Diels-Alder reaction, providing a bicyclic product. A major part of the investigation was conducted with 4,4-dimethylcyclohex-2-en-1-one, but in the

article there is also one entry with cyclopent-2-en-1-one, reporting moderate enantioselectivity (Scheme 25, top left).⁷⁰

In 2012 Xu et al. showed that poly-conjugated nitroolefin systems can also react with cyclopent-2-en-1-one, giving a [4+2] cycloaddition reaction. Unfortunately, only a single entry reported good stereoselectivity (Scheme 25, bottom left).⁷¹

In 2012, Chen et al. published an article in which they reported a [4+2] cycloaddition between β -substituted cyclopent-2-en-1-one and poly-conjugated malononitrile (Scheme 25, bottom right).⁷²



Scheme 25. Work done with cyclopent-2-en-1-one^{67, 70-72}

1.5. SUMMARY OF LITERATURE OVERVIEW

Within the last two decades, besides enzyme- and metal-catalysis, organocatalysis has become a strong chemistry workhorse, with reaction methods developed that afford valuable products for natural product synthesis and the pharmaceutical industry. According to the literature data, 5-membered rings have not been studied sufficiently. Cyclopentane-1,2-diones have been almost neglected, and the other 5-membered ring compounds have usually afforded unsatisfactory results, with only a few good examples.

2. AIMS OF THE PRESENT WORK

The present work aims to increase the possibilities of using cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** and cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** as relevant starting materials for organocatalytic reactions to obtain valuable chiral products that have a broad utility value.

The main aims of the work:

- To investigate the use of cyclopentane-1,2-diones **3** in asymmetric organocatalytic Michael additions to different Michael acceptors.
- To elaborate the use of cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** in asymmetric organocatalytic Diels-Alder reactions with common classes of electron-deficient alkenes.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. ASYMMETRIC ORGANOCATALYTIC MICHAEL ADDITION OF CYCLOPENTANE-1,2-DIONE

Our group has previously demonstrated that a derivative of cyclopentane-1,2-dione 2,3-bis((*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)cyclopenta-1,3-diene reacts readily in a Mukaiyama-Michael reaction with α , β -unsaturated aldehydes under aminocatalytic conditions (Scheme 6). Chiral 3-substituted cyclopentane-1,2-diones were obtained in moderate to good yields (up to 66%) and in excellent enantioselectivities (up to 94% *ee*). Although the stereoselectivity of the addition reaction was excellent, the starting material - disilyl enol ether - is complicated to synthesize and handle. In addition, the yield of the Mukaiyama-Michael reaction is moderate. In the present work, we investigated the possibilities of using unprotected cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** in reactions with different electrophiles (Scheme 26).



Scheme 26. General view of the concept

3.1.1 NITROOLEFINS AS MICHAEL ACCEPTORS

First, the reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** with nitroolefins **40**, the most common electrophile used in organocatalysis, was studied. The general practice in activating nitroolefins is to use hydrogen-bonding donor organocatalysts.



Scheme 27. Cyclic 1,2-diones in Michael reactions with nitroolefins

3.1.1.1. PRELIMINARY EXPERIMENTS

During the preliminary experiments, cyclopentane-1,2-dione and *trans*- β -nitrostyrene were allowed to react at room temperature, using *Cinchona* alkaloid-derived thiourea as a catalyst. Complete consumption of the substrate was observed within 1 hour. As the reaction product, 3-substituted diketone **41a** in excellent 93% yield and moderate 62% *ee* was obtained (Table 2, entry 1). Unlike cyclohexane-1,2-dione, the formation of a functionalized bicyclo[2.2.1]heptanone scaffold was not observed.

3.1.1.2. SCREENING OF OPTIMAL CONDITIONS

In the search for the optimal conditions of the Michael addition reaction, different catalysts, solvents and temperatures were tested. To find the most efficient catalyst, we screened two types of bifunctional H-bonding catalysts (Figure 6): quinine-derived thiourea catalysts **35** and **45**, and squaramide catalysts **42**, **43** and **44**. The results are presented in Table 2 (entries 2, and 9-12). The most optimal catalyst was thiourea catalyst **35**, giving the optimal balance between enantioselectivity (76% *ee*) and yield (85%).



Figure 6. Catalysts investigated in a Michael reaction to nitroolefins

In a search for the optimal solvent for the reaction, aprotic solvents, such as dichloromethane, chloroform and toluene, were screened at room temperature. Under the applied conditions, the solvent had little or no influence on the reaction outcome.

To improve the reaction, the influence of temperature on the selectivity of the Michael addition was investigated. We observed that in toluene at lower temperatures the reaction selectivity dropped considerably (Table 2, entry 1 vs. entries 4 and 5). Similar

temperature dependence had been found earlier and was explained by Jang et al. as being a result of the self-aggregation of the catalyst.⁷³ By raising the reaction temperature to 50 °C, the selectivity was improved. An additional temperature increase to 80 °C caused a slight selectivity drop (Table 2, entries 1 and 5 vs. 6 and 7). In halogenated solvents, temperature dependence was not observed (Table 2, entries 1 and 6 vs. 3 and 8).

Table 2. Screening of optimal conditions for a Michael addition of cyclopentane-1,2dione to (*E*)- β -nitrostyrene



Entry ^[a]	Solvent	Catalyst 4 [5 mol %]	Temp. [°C]	Time [h]	Yield [%] ^[b]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[c]
1	Toluene	35	rt	1	93	62
2	CH_2CI_2	35	rt	4	88	78
3	CHCl₃	35	rt	4	85	76
4	Toluene	35	0	3	77	50
5	Toluene	35	-20	3	61	36
6	Toluene	35	50	0.5	79	76
7	Toluene	35	80	0.1	77	70
8	CHCl₃	35	50	1	77	73
9	CHCl₃	42	rt	2	83	78
10	CHCl₃	43	rt	24	2	46
11	CHCl₃	44	rt	2	43	72
12	CHCl₃	45	rt	3	97	68

[a]Unless otherwise noted, the reactions were performed with **3** (0.24 mmol), **40a** (0.2 mmol) and **35** (5 mol%) in the corresponding solvent (0.7 mL). [b] Isolated yield. [c] Determined by HPLC analysis on a chiral stationary phase.
3.1.1.3. REACTION SCOPE

To evaluate the generality of the reaction under optimal conditions (rt, CH_2Cl_2 , catalyst **35** 5 mol %), we examined different nitrostyrenes in reaction with cyclopentane-1,2dione. The results are shown in Table 3. As can be seen in Table 3, halogen substitution (chlorine and bromide) in the *para* and *meta* positions of the aromatic ring of nitrostyrene was tolerated, giving good yield and stereoselectivity (Table 3, entries 2 and 3). In addition, electron-donating groups were tolerated in the reaction (Table 3, entries 4 and 8). Nitroolefins with heteroaromatic (Table 3, entries 9 and 10) or aliphatic (Table 3, entry 11) substituents could also be used in the reaction, affording good enantioselectivities (68 – 70 % *ee*) and good to excellent yields (67 – 96%). Since the aliphatic nitroolefin was less reactive than its aromatic counterparts, a longer reaction time was needed with (*E*)-(2-nitrovinyl)cyclohexane **40k**.

Table 3. Scope of Michael addition of cyclopentane-1,2-dione to nitroolefins



Entry ^[a]	R	Product	Time [h]	Yield [%] ^[b]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[c]
1	Ph	41a	4	85	76
2	<i>p</i> -Cl(C ₆ H ₄)	41b	2	82	62
3	m-Br(C ₆ H ₄)	41c	3	70	56
4	<i>p</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	41d	5	90	64
5	p-CF ₃ O(C ₆ H ₄)	41e	2	77	60
6	<i>p</i> -CF ₃ (C ₆ H ₄)	41f	3	60	70
7	<i>m</i> -Me(C ₆ H ₄)	41g	3	48	70
8	<i>o</i> -Me(C ₆ H ₄)	41h	3	71	60
9	2-furyl	41i	2	96	70
10	2-thiophenyl	41j	2	79	68
11	cyclohexyl	41k	24	67	70

[a] Unless otherwise noted, the reactions were performed with **3** (0.24 mmol), **40** (0.2 mmol) and **35** (5 mol%) in the CH_2Cl_2 (0.7 mL). [b] Isolated yield. [c] Determined by HPLC analysis on a chiral stationary phase.

The absolute configuration of compound **41b** was determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction, shown in Figure 7. The absolute configurations of all other compounds in the series were assigned based on analogy from that.



Figure 7. X-ray crystal structure of 41b

3.1.2. (E)-2-OXOBUT-3-ENOATES AS MICHAEL ACCEPTORS

As demonstrated above, the use of a strong electrophile with cyclopentane-1,2-dione readily afforded in the Michael addition 3-substituted products. The question arose: what happens if the electrophile bears a competing vicinal carbonyl group moiety? In the reaction of α , β -unsaturated keto esters with cyclopentane-1,2-dione, four competing carbonyl groups are present, in which two pairs are in vicinal position. Therefore, bifunctional hydrogen bonding catalysts, activating both the electrophile and the nucleophile, seemed a reasonable choice for the organocatalytic reaction. Vicinal amines have been shown to activate reactions by activating and coordinating starting materials through H-bonding activation.



Scheme 28. Cyclopentane-1,2-dione in Michael reactions with α -ketoesters.

3.1.2.1. PRELIMINARY RESULTS

The preliminary results of the reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** with phenylsubstituted β , γ -unsaturated α -ketoester **46a-Me** by using Soos's type organocatalyst **35** in toluene were promising, affording hemiacetal **47a** in low yield (35%) and excellent stereoselectivity (dr >20:1, 96% *ee*, Table 4, entry 1) in a short reaction time (15 minutes). To our delight, the formation of mainly one diastereomer was observed.

3.1.2.2. SCREENING OF OPTIMAL CONDITIONS

To find the optimal reaction conditions, a model reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** with methyl (E)-2-oxo-4-phenylbut-3-enoate **46a-Me** was screened, using a variety of catalysts and solvents. The results are presented in Table 4.

In the search for the optimal solvent, we found that with catalyst **35** the stereoselectivity of reaction did not largely depend on the used aprotic solvents. Toluene (Table 4, entry 1), halogen containing solvents (Table 4, entries 2 and 3) and ethers (Table 4, entry 4) were almost equal in the reaction. The best yield (75 %) was obtained with CH_2Cl_2 .

In the search for the optimal catalyst, the reactions were performed in CH₂Cl₂ with Soos **35**, Takemoto-type **34** and squaramide **44** catalysts. All of the used H-bonding catalysts resulted in excellent stereoselectivity in the reaction. The best yield of product **47a** (89%) was obtained with the Takemoto-type catalyst **34** (loading of 5 mol%) in a very short reaction time (15 minutes; Table 4, entry 6).





Entry ^[a]	Solvent	Cat. [mol %]	Yield, [%]	d.r. ^[b]	ee, [%]
1	Toluene	35, [10]	35	>20:1	96
2	CH_2CI_2	35, [10]	75	>20:1	95
3	CHCl₃	35, [10]	70	>20:1	95
4	THF	35, [10]	63	>20:1	98
5	CH_2Cl_2	44, [5]	66	>20:1	95
6	CH_2Cl_2	34, [5]	89	>20:1	96 ^[c]

[a] Conditions: **3**, (0.24 mmol); **46a-Me** (0.2 mmol); catalyst (5 and 10 mol%); room temperature, 15 minutes; isolated yield after column chromatography; ee determined by HPLC analysis on a Chiralpak AS-H column. Always a single diastereoisomer was obtained. [b] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture. [c] Formation of the opposite enantiomer was observed.

We propose that the reaction proceeds according to a pathway presented in Scheme 29, where cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** acts as a nucleophile and methyl(E)-2-oxo-4-phenylbut-3-enoate **46a-Me** as an electrophile, both activated by the bifunctional organocatalyst.

The Michael acceptor **46a-Me** is activated via the hydrogen bond donor activation of thiourea moiety in a Takemoto catalyst. At the same time, the tertiary amino group of the bifunctional catalyst **34** acts as a hydrogen bond acceptor and coordinates

substrate **3** into a suitable position for the reaction. A Michael addition of the ketoenol form of cyclopentane-1,2-dione **3** to β , γ -unsaturated ketoester **46a-Me** takes place, forming an adduct **48a** (in equilibrium with its enol tautomer **48b**). In the preferred transition state, the *si*-face of the acceptor is favoured, affording product in *R*-configuration. Because of the stability of the single keto-enol tautomer in cyclopentane-1,2-dione moiety, only one stereogenic centre is formed in the first step of the cascade. The following stereoselective cyclization of **48a** (*R*-configuration) via hemiacetalization of enol **48b** (*S*-configuration) resulted in hemiacetal **47a** (*S*-configuration), which was isolated as a single diastereomer with OH and Ph groups in *trans*-position (according to NMR spectra and single-crystal X-ray analysis). Dehydration product **49** was not detected.



Scheme 29. The proposed reaction pathway of the Michael addition

3.1.2.3. REACTION SCOPE

Under the optimal conditions, the scope of the cascade reaction of cyclopentane-1,2dione **3** with substituted (*E*)-2-oxo-3-butenoates **46** was studied. The obtained results are presented in Table 5.

Both electron-donating **46e** and electron-withdrawing **46b-d**, **f** groups on the aromatic ring of the Michael acceptor reacted smoothly and afforded excellent stereoselectivies (Table 5, entries 4-8). In addition, heteroaromatic thiophene substituted ketoester **46g** afforded the hemiacetal **47g** in slightly lower yield but in very high stereoselectivity (Table 5, entry 9). The change of methyl ester **46a-Me** to the bulkier ethyl (**46a-Et**) and isopropyl ester (**46a-iPr**) slightly decreased the yield and enantioselectivity of the reaction (Table 5, entries 1-3). It is noteworthy that alicyclic β , γ -unsaturated- α ketoester **46h** also afforded the addition-cyclization product **47h** in very high enantioselectivity, although in slightly lower yield (Table 5, entry 10). 3-Substituted cyclopentane-1,2-diones gave unsuccessful results in the reaction with (*E*)-2-oxo-3butenoates.

	O OH R1	~~Y`	R ₂ CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	, 15 min	PH R2	
	3	46		47	0	
Entry ^[a]	R ₁	R ₂	Product	Yield [%] ^[b]	d.r. ^[c]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[d]
1	Ph	Me	47a-Me	89	>20:1	96
2 ^[e]	Ph	Et	47a-Et	66	>20:1	94
3 ^[e]	Ph	<i>i</i> Pr	47a- <i>i</i> Pr	70	>20:1	87
4	<i>p</i> -Cl(C ₆ H ₄)	Me	47b	73	>20:1	89
5	<i>o</i> -Br(C ₆ H ₄)	Me	47c	93	>20:1	95
6	o-Cl(C ₆ H ₄)	Me	47d	48	>20:1	94
7	<i>p</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	Me	47e	69	>20:1	91
8	<i>p</i> -NO ₂ (C ₆ H ₄)	Me	47f	86	>20:1	94
9	2-thiophenyl	Me	47g	59	>20:1	88
10	cyclohexyl	Me	47h	42	>20:1	90

Table 5. Scope of the Michael reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione with ketoesters

 \square

o cat 34

[a] Reactions were performed with **3** (0.24 mmol), **46** (0.2 mmol) and catalyst **34** (5 mol%) in CH_2CI_2 and room temperature. [b] Yield of isolated product. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on crude reaction mixture. [d] Determined by HPLC on a Chiralpak AS-H coloumn. [e] Reaction time 1h.

The absolute configuration of compound **47b** was determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction analysis, giving (2R, 4S) configuration. The absolute configurations of the other obtained compounds were proposed by analogy with that crystal structure (Figure 9).



Figure 9. X-ray structure of compound 47b.

Two selected transformations were carried out. Bicyclic product **47a-Me** was reduced, obtaining monocyclic ester **50**. Two diastereoisomers were obtained in a 4 to 1 ratio, with the thermodynamically more stable *trans*-isomer prevailing (Scheme 30, left).

Furthermore, bicyclic product **47a-Me** was treated with an excess of silylating agent, giving disilylated product **51** (Scheme 30, right). As discussed above 3-substituted diketones are valuable precursors for further derivatizations, e.g. for asymmetric oxidation, resulting in lactone carboxylic acids.⁷⁴



Scheme 30. Transformation of hemiacetal 47a-Me

3.2. ASYMMETRIC ORGANOCATALYTIC DIELS-ALDER REACTIONS WITH CYCLOPENTENONE TO DIFFERENT ELECTRON-DEFICIENT OLEFINS

In this chapter, the asymmetric aminocatalytic reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** with different dienophiles is presented, and its versatility in the diversification of privileged structures is proved (Scheme 31). Cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** can be activated through cross-dienamine activation, giving electron-rich diene, which can readily react with dienophiles, giving multifunctionalized norcamphor scaffolds.



Scheme 31. Aminocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one 2

3.2.1. PRELIMINARY RESULTS

First we concentrated on the development of the Diels-Alder reaction between cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** and nitrostyrene **40a**. In the presence of the secondary aminocatalyst **53**, the reaction was found to proceed, giving desired product **52a** only in very low yield (9%) and in almost racemic form (5% *ee*) (Table 6, entry 1). Due to the polymerization of nitro-olefin **40a**, the observed conversion of the substrate was higher than the reaction yield.

3.2.2. SCREENING OF OPTIMAL CONDITIONS

To find the optimal conditions, a variety of catalysts, solvents and additives were screened. In the search for the optimal catalyst, different secondary and primary aminocatalysts were screened. The best result was obtained with the quinine-based primary catalyst **22**, giving 49% yield with high enantioselectivity (83 % *ee*).

Solvent screening showed that enantioselectivity (90 % *ee*) and yield (52 %) could be increased by using toluene as a solvent (Table 6, entry 5). Several additives were checked and it was noted that additives had only a small influence on the enantioselectivity. Stronger acids decreased the yield of product **52a**. By prolonging the reaction time to 30 h, the reaction outcome was improved. The formation of one diastereomer was always observed.

Table 6. Screening of the optimal conditions for the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2en-1-one **2** with (*E*)- β -nitrostyrene **40a**



Entry ^[a]	Cat.	Solvent	Additive	Conv./Yield [%] ^[c]	dr ^[c]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[d]
1	53	CDCl₃	EtCO₂H	50/9	>20:1	-5 ^[f]
2	54	CDCl₃	EtCO₂H	67/26	>20:1	-28 ^[f]
3	55	CDCl₃	EtCO₂H	42/5	>20:1	1
4	22	CDCl ₃	EtCO₂H	79/49	>20:1	83
5	22	Toluene	EtCO₂H	91/52	>20:1	90
6	22	THF	EtCO₂H	35/17	>20:1	91
7	22	Heptane	$EtCO_2H$	100/18	>20:1	82
8	22	Toluene	PhCO₂Na	68/20	>20:1	91
9	22	Toluene	PhCO₂H	100/51	>20:1	90
10	22	Toluene	SA	90/44	>20:1	91
11	22	Toluene	<i>p</i> -NBA	90/34	>20:1	87
12	22	Toluene	TFA	62/14	>20:1	90
13	23	Toluene	EtCO₂H	73/39	>20:1	84
14 ^[b]	22	Toluene	EtCO₂H	89/65 ^[e]	>20:1	90

[a] Reactions were performed with **2** (0.2 mmol), **40a** (0.1 mmol), cat (0.02 mmol), additive (0.02 mmol) in solvent (0.1 mL). [b] **2** (0.15 mmol) and 30 h reaction time. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture with 1,3,5-tris(trifluoromethyl)benzene as internal standard. [d] Determined by chiral UPC². [e] **52a** was isolated in 62% after FCC on silica gel. [f] Formation of opposite enantiomer was observed.

3.2.3. REACTION SCOPE

Reaction scope was investigated with a series of nitrostyrenes and cyclopent-2-en-1one **2**, shown in Table 7. Electron-donating and electron-withdrawing substituents in the aromatic ring were well-tolerated (Table 7, entries 2-8). To our delight, polyaromatic and heteroaromatic nitroolefins also gave the corresponding products **52r** and **52i** in good yields and high enantioselectivities (Table 7, entries 9 and 10). Also, polyconjugated nitrodiene **40s** reacted with cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** in lower yield but maintained a high enantioselectivity comparable with other nitroolefins (Table 7, entry 11).

Table 7. Scope of the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one 2 with nitrostyrenes3

	R	22 EtCO	(20 mol%) 9 ₂ H (20 mol%)	R、		
\square	NO ₂	Tol	Toluene, 40 °C			
2	40				52	
Entry ^[a]	R	Product	Yield [%] ^[b]	dr ^[c]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[d]	
1	Ph	52a	62	>20:1	90	
2	<i>p</i> -Me(C ₆ H ₄)	52l	50	>20:1	90	
3	<i>p</i> -F(C ₆ H ₄)	52m	56	>20:1	89	
4	<i>p</i> -Br(C ₆ H ₄)	52n	56	>20:1	92	
5	<i>o</i> -Cl(C ₆ H ₄)	52o	81	>20:1	95	
6	<i>o</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	52p	79	>20:1	95	
7	<i>m</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	52q	48	>20:1	90	
8	<i>p</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	52d	48	>20:1	86	
9	2-naphthyl	52r	49	>20:1	89	
10	2-furyl	52i	59	>20:1	84	
11	PhCH=CH	52s	41	9:1	87	

[a] Reactions were performed with **2** (0.15 mmol), **40** (0.1 mmol), **22** (0.02 mmol), propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in Toluene (0.1 mL). [b] Isolated yield. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture [d] Determined by chiral UPC².

In the study of other possible electron-deficient olefins, it was found that chalcones also underwent Diels-Alder reactions with cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2**. It was found that chalcones **56** were less prone to react with cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** than nitrostyrenes **40**, but also showed resistance to polymerization. Therefore, reactions were performed at higher temperatures.

In a preliminary experiment, cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** was allowed to react with chalcone **56a**, obtaining the desired cycloadduct **57a** in 79% yield and in 93% *ee* (Table

8, entry 1). Electron-withdrawing and electron-donating groups performed well in the aromatic ring of chalcones (Table 8, entries 2-12). It should be mentioned that the reaction could also be conducted under elevated temperature (100 °C) without loss of enantioselectivity (87% *ee*, Table 8, entry 7). Poly- and heteroaromatic moieties were tolerated, giving products **57h-j** in 47-62% yields and 87-91% *ee* (Table 8, entries 8-10). Also, it was shown that chalcones could be substituted in the aromatic ring (R²) giving 85-91% yields and excellent enantioselectivities of 96-99% *ee* (Table 8, entries 11 and 12). Furthermore, aliphatic groups in chalcones (compounds **56m** and **56n**) could also be used in the reaction, providing excellent stereoselectivities (>20:1 dr, 91-92% *ee*), although with low yield (19-32%; Table 8).

Table 8. Scope of the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one 2 with chalcones 56

O ∐	Ŧ		22 (20 mol%) EtCO ₂ H (20 mol%)	R ¹ O
	т	R ¹	Toluene, 18 h	R ² 0

57

56

2

Entry ^[a]	R^1/R^2	Product	T [°C]	Yield [%] ^[b]	d.r. ^[c]	<i>ee</i> [%] ^[d]
1	Ph/Ph	57a	60	79	>20:1	93
2	<i>p</i> -Br(C₀H₄)/Ph	57b	60	66	>20:1	96
3	<i>m</i> -NO ₂ (C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	57c	40	63	>20:1	96
4	<i>p</i> −NO₂(C ₆ H₄)/Ph	57d	40	52	>20:1	99
5	<i>o</i> -MeO(C₀H₄)/Ph	57e	60	75	>20:1	99
6	<i>m</i> -MeO(C₀H₄)/Ph	57f	80	52	>20:1	96
7	<i>p</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	57g	100	38	>20:1	87
8	2-furyl/Ph	57h	80	62	>20:1	87
9	2-thiophenyl/Ph	57i	80	58	>20:1	91
10	2-naphthyl/Ph	57j	80	47	>20:1	91
11	Ph/ <i>p</i> -NO ₂ (C ₆ H ₄)	57k	60	85	>20:1	96
12	p-Br(C ₆ H ₄)/p- NO ₂ (C ₆ H ₄)	571	40	91	>20:1	99
13 ^[e]	Me/Ph	57m	40	32	>20:1	91
14 ^[f]	Ph/Me	57n	60	19	>20:1	92

[a] Reactions were performed with **2** (0.2 mmol), **56** (0.1 mmol), **22** (0.02 mmol), propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in Toluene (0.1 mL). [b] Isolated yield. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture [d] Determined by chiral UPC². [e] Reaction time 50 h. [f] Reaction time 72 h.

We propose a Diels-Alder reaction mechanism that is similar to a recent mechanistic study published by Houk.⁷⁵ The Diels-Alder reaction transition state has been described graphically in Scheme 32, where the Cinchona alkaloid-derived primary amine

condenses with cyclopent-2-en-1-one, creating a more reactive cross-dienamine. The dienophile is coordinated and activated by a protonated quinuclidine moiety by hydrogen bonding. After the Diels-Alder reaction, the catalyst is liberated into a new catalytic cycle. The bicyclic product retains its *trans*-configuration.



Scheme 32. Proposed Diels-Alder reaction pathway

Usually, bifunctionalized aminocatalytic reactions can cope with only narrow variations of the H-bond acceptor groups in electrophiles. Optimization of the conditions for different electrophiles demands a huge amount of experimental work. However, in our case we saw excellent performance of the used primary amine catalyst under the same reaction conditions. So, we were eager to determine other electron-deficient alkenes for the reaction. To our delight, cyclopent-2-en-1-one reacted with the most common classes of electron-deficient alkenes. The results are presented in Table 9. It should be noted that all reactions performed were done without further optimization.



Table 9. Scope of Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopentenone 2 with dienophiles 58^[a]

[a] Reactions were performed with **2** (0.2 mmol), 58 (0.1 mmol), **22** (0.02 mmol), propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in toluene (0.1 mL). Isolated yield is given in each case. The dr values were determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture, and *ee* values were determined by chiral UPC².

As shown in Table 9, the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one **2** can be performed very well with a variety of electron-deficient alkenes, for example with malononitrile derivative **58a**, polyconjugated malononitrile derivative **58b**, CF₃-enone **58c**, dimethyl fumarate **58d**, *trans*- α -cinnamate **58e**, *trans*- α -cinnamate derivative **58f** and benzylidenebenzofuranone **58g**. With the above-mentioned olefins, it is possible to generate quarternary stereocenters and spirocyclic norcamphor scaffolds with high yields and stereoselectivities. This illustrates the generality of the developed organocatalytic system, affording the use of different dienophiles in the Diels-Alder reaction, under the same reaction conditions.



Scheme 33. Synthetic transformations of cycloadduct 52a

To increase the relevance of the Diels-Alder reaction, two transformations were conducted with norcamphor scaffold **52a**. Baeyer-Villiger oxidation followed by acidic ring opening provided highly substituted cyclopentane scaffold **61**, having 4 contiguous stereocenters (Scheme 33, top). Diastereoselective reductive amination gave product **62**, which can be used in the synthesis of bioactive compounds (Scheme 33, bottom).

The absolute configurations of the compounds **57I** and **62** were determined by a singlecrystal X-ray diffraction and the configurations of all remaining products were assigned by analogy (Figures 10 and 11).



Figure 10. X-ray crystal structure of compound 62



Figure 11. X-ray structure of compound 571

CONCLUSIONS

An effective asymmetric organocatalytic Michael addition reaction of cyclopentane-1,2dione to nitroolefins resulting in 3-substituted 2-hydroxycyclopent-2-en-1-ones with excellent yields and good enantioselectivities has been described.

The absolute configurations of nitro-ketone products were determined based on analogy with the X-ray diffraction analysis of 3-[1-(4-chlorophenyl)-2-nitroethyl]-2-hydroxycyclopent-2-enone, having the (*R*)-configuration.

A stereoselective organocatalytic Michael addition-cyclization cascade reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione with substituted (E)-2-oxobut-3-enoates was elaborated, giving substituted bicyclic dihydropyran derivatives with excellent yield and high stereoselectivity.

The absolute configuration of the obtained substituted bicycles were determined based on analogy with the X-ray diffraction analysis of methyl 4-(4-chlorophenyl)-2-hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate, having a (2R, 4S)-configuration.

Electron-withdrawing and -donating substituents in Michael acceptors did not change the outcome of the enantioselectivity. Also, heteroaromatic and aliphatic substituent were well tolerated, giving comparable results.

A stereoselective organocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopent-2-en-1-one to the most common classes of electron-deficient olefins, giving 5,6-substituted norcamphor scaffolds with good to excellent yield and stereoselectivity, has been described. The proposed protocol is general for a wide range of substrates and reagents.

The absolute configurations of norcamphor scaffolds were determined based on analogy with the X-ray diffraction analysis of 6-(4-bromophenyl)-5-(4-nitrobenzoyl)bicyclo[2.2.1]heptan-2-one with 1R,4R,5S,6S and N-benzyl-5-nitro-6-phenylbicyclo[2.2.1]heptan-2-amine salt with a 1R,4R,6S configuration.

¹ (a) Hronec, M.; Fulajtarová, K.; Liptaj, T. *Applied Catalysis A: General* **2012**, *437–438*, 104 – 111. (b) Hronec, M.; Fulajtarová, K. *Catalysis Communications*, **2012**, *24*, 100 – 104. (c) Zhang, G.-S.; Zhu, M.-M.; Zhang, Q.; Liu, Y.-M.; He, H.-Y.; Cao, Y. Green Chem., **2016**, DOI: 10.1039/c5gc02528a. (d) Yang, Y.; Du, Z.; Huang, Y.; Lu, F.; Wang, F.; Gao, J.; Xu, J. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15*, 1932 – 1940.

² (a) Wrobel, J.; Cook, J. M. *Synth. Commun.* **1980**, *10*, 333 – 337. (b) Cussó, O.; Cianfanelli, M.; Ribas, X.; Gebbink, R. J. M. K.; Costas, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 2732 – 2738. (c) Ponaras, A. A. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1980**, *21*, 4801 – 4806.

³ (a) Yang, J.; Li, N.; Li, G.; Wang, W.; Wang, A.; Wang, X.; Cong, Y.; Zhang, T. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 2572 – 2574. (b) Yang, J.; Li, S.; Li, N.; Wang, W.; Wang, A.; Zhang, T.; Cong, Y.; Wang, X.; Huber, G. W. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *54*, 11825–11837.

⁴ Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Eek, M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 9081 – 9084.

⁵ Paju, A.; Kostomarova, D.; Matkevitš, K.; Laos, M.; Pehk, T.; Kanger, T.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron* **2015**, *71*, 9313 – 9320.

⁶ Paju, A.; Päri, M.; Selyutina, A.; Zusinaite, E.; Merits, A.; Pehk, T.; Siirde, K.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Kailas, T.; Lopp, M. *Nucleosides, Nucleotides and Nucleic Acids* **2010**, *29*, 707 – 720.

⁷ Antoniotti S.; Alezra, N.; Fernandez, X.; Duñach, E. *Flavour Fragr. J.* **2004**, *19*, 373 – 381.

⁸ (a) Hooker, S. C. *J. Chem. Soc., Trans.* **1896***, 69,* 1355-1381. (b) Hooker, S. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1936***, 58,* 1163 – 1167.

⁹ Perez, A. L.; Lamoureux, G.; Zhen-Wu, B. Y. Tetrahedron Letters **2007**, *48*, 3995 – 3998.

¹⁰ Romanov, V. S.; Ivanchikova, I. D.; Moroz, A. A.; Shvartsberg M. S. *Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *54*, 1686 – 1689.

¹¹ Krafft, M. E.; Vidhani, D. V.; Crana, J. W.; Manoharan, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 6707 – 6709.

¹² Chen, H. S.; Ma, X. P.; Li, Z. M.; Wang, Q. R.; Tao, F. G. *Chinese Chemical Letters* **2008**, *19*, 1309 – 1311.

¹³ Dahlén, K.; Wallén, E. A. A.; Grøtli, M.; Luthman K. *J. Org. Chem.* **2006**, *71*, 6863 – 6871.

¹⁴ Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Aid, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron* **2014**, *70*, 5843 – 5848.

¹⁵ Reile, I.; Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2012**, *53*, 1476 – 1478.

¹⁶ (a) Akabori, S.; Sakurai, S.; Izumi, Y.; Fujii, Y. *Nature* **1956**, *178*, 323 – 324. (b) Knowles, W. S. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1983**, *16*, 106 – 112.

¹⁷ "The Nobel Prize in Chemistry 2001". *Nobelprize.org.* Nobel Media AB 2014. Web. 28 Jan 2016. http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/chemistry/laureates/2001/

¹⁸ MacMillan, D. W. C. *Nature* **2008**, *455*, 304 – 308.

¹⁹ (a) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Atodiresei, I. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2011, 40, 4539 – 4549. (b)
 Parmar, D.; Sugiono, E.; Raja, S.; Rueping M. *Chem. Rev.* 2014, 114, 9047 – 9153. (c)
 Akiyama, T.; Mori, K. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, 115, 9277 – 9306.

²⁰ Palomo, C.; Oiarbide, M.; López, R. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 632 – 653.

²¹ Sereda, O.; Tabassum, S.; Wilhelm, R. *Top Curr. Chem.* **2010**, *291*, 349 – 393.

²² Chen, X.; Hu, X.-Y.; Shu, C.; Zhang, Y.-H.; Zheng, Y.-S.; Jiang, Y.; Yuan, W.-C.; Liu, B.; Zhang, X.-M. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2013**, *11*, 3089 – 3093.

²³ Shirakawa, S.; Maruoka, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2013**, 52, 4312 – 4348.

²⁴ Doyle, A. G.; Jacobsen, E. N. *Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *107*, 5713 – 5743.

²⁵ Mahlau, M.; List, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2013**, 52, 518 – 533.

²⁶ (a) Bertelsen, S.; Jørgensen, K. A. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2009, *38*, 2178 – 2189. (b) Donslund, B. S.; Johansen, T. K.; Poulsen, P. H.; Halskov, K. S.; Jørgensen K. A. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, *54*, 13860 – 13874. (c) Hopkinson, M. N.; Richter, C.; Schedler, M.;

Glorius, F. *Nature* **2014**, *510*, 485 – 496. (d) Flanigan, D. M.; Romanov-Michailidis, F.; White, N. A.; Rovis, T. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 9307 – 9387. (e) Fèvre, M.; Pinaud, J.; Gnanou, Y.; Vignolle, J.; Taton, D. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 2142 – 2172.

²⁷ Pihko, P. M. *Hydrogen Bonding in Organic Synthesis*. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2009.

²⁸ Verpoorte, R.; Scripsema, J.; Van der Leer, T. "*Cinchona* Alkaloids" The Alkaloids: Chemistry and Pharmacology. San Diego: Academic, **1988**, *34*, 332 – 398.

²⁹ Achan, J.; Talisuna, A.O.; Erhart, A.; Yeka, A.; Tibendarana, J. K.; Baliraine, F. N.; Rosenthal, P. J.; D'Alessandro, U. *Malaria Journal* **2011**, *10*, 144.

³⁰ Song, C. E. *Cinchona Alkaloids in Synthesis and Catalysis: Ligands, Immobilization and Organocatalysis.* Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, **2009**.

³¹ (a) Pelletier, P.-J.; Caventou, J.-B. *Ann. Chim. Phys.* **1820**, *15*, 289 – 318. (b) Pelletier, P.-J.; Caventou, J.-B. *Ann. Chim. Phys.* **1820**, 15, 337 – 365.

³² (a) Pasteur, L. *Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci.* **1853**, *37*, 110 – 114. (b) Pasteur, L. *Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1853**, *88*, 209 – 214.

³³ (a) Woodward, R. B.; Doering, R. B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1944**, 66, 849. (b) Woodward, R.
B.; Doering, W. E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1945**, 67, 860 – 874.

³⁴ Stork, G.; Niu, D.; Fujimoto, A.; Koft, E.R.; Balkovec, J. M.; Tata, J. R.; Dake, G. R. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 3239 – 3242.

³⁵ (a) Hiemstra, H.; Wynberg, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1981**, 103, 417 – 430. (b) Helder, R.;
 Arends, R.; Bolt, W.; Hiemstra, H.; Wynberg, H. Tetrahedron Letters **1977**, 25, 2181 – 2182.

³⁶ Wynberg, H.; Helder, R. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1975**, *46*, 4057 – 4060.

³⁷ Långström, B.; Bergson, G. Acta Chem. Scand. **1973**, *8*, 3118 – 3119.

³⁸ Grayson, M. N.; Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 1170 – 1173.

³⁹ (a) Muñoz Caro, G. M.; Meierhenrich, U. J.; Schutte, W. A.; Barbier, B.; Arcones Segovia, A.; Rosenbauer, H.; Thiemann, W. H.-P.; Brack, A.; Greenberg, J. M. *Nature* **2002**, 416, 403 – 406. (b) Pizzarello, S.; Weber, A. L. *Science* **2004**, *303*, 1151.

⁴⁰ Brunner, H.; Bügler, J.; Nuber, B. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 1699 – 1702.

⁴¹ Jiang, L.; Chen, Y.-C. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *1*, 354 – 365.

⁴² Bürgi, T.; Baiker, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120, 12920 – 12926.

⁴³ Olsen, R. A.; Borchardt, D.; Mink, L.; Agarwal, A.; Mueller, L. J.; Zaera, F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 15594 – 15595.

⁴⁴ Xie, J.-W.; Chen, W.; Li, R.; Zeng, M.; Du, W.; Yue, L.; Chen, Y.-C.; Wu, Y.; Zhu, J.; Deng, J.-G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 389 – 392.

⁴⁵ Bartoli, G.; Bosco, M.; Carlone, A.; Pesciaioli, F.; Sambri, L.; Melchiorre, P. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 1403 – 1405.

⁴⁶ Carlone, A.; Bartoli, G.; Bosco, M.; Pesciaioli, F.; Ricci, P.; Sambri, L.; Melchiorre, P. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, *33*, 5492 – 5495.

⁴⁷ McCooey, S. H.; Connon, S. J. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 599 – 602.

⁴⁸ (a) Lu, X.; Deng, L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 7710 –7713. (b) Pesciaioli, F.; De Vincentiis, F.; Galzerano, P.; Bencivenni, G.; Bartoli, G.; Mazzanti, A.; Melchiorre, P. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 8703 – 8706.

⁴⁹ (a) See reference 45. (b) Lu, X.; Liu, Y.; Sun, B.; Cindric, B.; Deng, L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 8134 – 8135.

⁵⁰ Ricci, P.; Carlone, A.; Bartoli, G.; Bosco, M.; Sambri, L.; Melchiorre, P. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2008**, *350*, 49 – 53.

⁵¹ Doyle, A. G.; Jacobsen, E. N. *Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *107*, 5713 – 5743.

⁵² Schreiner, P. R.; Wittkopp, A. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 217 – 220.

⁵³ Okino, T.; Hoashi, Y.; Takemoto Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, 125, 12672 – 12673.

⁵⁴ Vakulya, B.; Varga, S.; Csámpai, A.; Soós, T. Org. Lett. **2005**, 7, 1967 – 1969.

⁵⁵ Malerich, J. P.; Hagihara, K.; Rawal, V. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 14416 – 14417.

⁵⁶ Fan, Y.; Kass, S. K. Org. Lett. **2016**, 18, 188 – 191.

⁵⁷ Michael, A. Journal für Praktische Chemie, **1887**, 35, 349 – 356.

⁵⁸ Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Tato, F.; Bats, J. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2009**, 48, 3699 – 3702.

⁵⁹ (a) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Frölich, R. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2010, *16*, 4173 – 4176. (b) Halland, N.; Velgaard, T.; Jørgensen, K. A. *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, *68*, 5067 – 5074. (c) Woo, S. B.; Kim, D. Y. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.* 2012, *8*, 699 – 704. (d) Kasaplar, P.; Rodríguez-Escrich, C.; Pericàs, M. A. *Org. Lett.* 2013, *15*, 3498 – 3501. (e) Zhou, W.-M.; Liu, H.;Du, D.-M. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2817 – 2820. (f) Wu, R.; Chang, X.; Lu, A.; Wang, Y.; Wu, G.; Song, H.; Zhou, Z.; Tang, C. *Chem. Commun.* 2011, *47*, 5034 – 5036. (g) Yang, W.; Du, D.-M. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2011, *353*, 1241 – 1246. (h) Reddy, S. B. V.; Swain, M.; Reddy, S. M.; Yadav, J. S. *RSC Adv.* 2013, *3*, 8756 – 8765. (i) Zhou, E.; Liu, B.; Dong, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2014, *25*, 181 – 186. (j) Reddy, S. B. V.; Reddy, S. M.; Swain, M. *RSC Adv.* 2013, *3*, 930 – 936. (k) Barange, D. K.; Kavala, V.; Raju, B. R.; Kuo, C.-W.; Tseng, C.; Tu, Y.-C.; Yao, C.-F. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2009, *50*, 5116 – 5119. (l) Otero, J. M.; Barcia, J. C.; Salas, C. O.; Thomas, P.; Estévez, J. C.; Estévez, R. J. *Tetrahedron* 2012, *68*, 1612 – 1621.

⁶⁰ (a) Ren, Q.; Gao, Y.; Wang, J. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2011, *9*, 5297 – 5302. (b) Chen, X.-K.;
Zheng, C.-W.; Zhao, S.-L.; Chai, Z.; Yang, Y.-Q.; Zhao, G.; Cao, W.-G. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2010, *352*, 1648 – 1652. (c) Wang, Y.-F.; Zhang, W.; Luo, S.-P.; Zhang, G.-C.; Xia, A.-B.;
Xu, X.-S.; Xu, D.-Q. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2010, *26*, 4981 – 4985.

⁶¹ Diels, O.; Alder, K. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1928**, *460*, 98 – 122.

⁶² Riant, O.; Kagan, H. B. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1989**, *30*, 7403 – 7406.

⁶³ Serebryakov, E. P.; Nigmatov, A. G.; Shcherbakov, M. A.; Struchkova, M. I. *Russian Chemical Bulletin* **1998**, *47*, 82 – 90.

⁶⁴ (a) Ramachary, D. B.; Chowdari, N. S.; Barbas III, C. F. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2002, *43*,
6743 – 6746. (b) Thayumanavan, R.; Dhevalapally, B.; Sakthivel, K.; Tanaka, F.; Barbas III, C. F. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2002, *43*, 3817 – 3820.

⁶⁵ Ahrendt, K. A.; Borths, C. J.; MacMillan, D. W. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 4243 – 4244.

⁶⁶ Northrup, A. B.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **2002**, 124, 2458 – 2460.

⁶⁷ Sundén, H.; Ibrahem, I.; Eriksson, L.; Córdova, A. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 4877 – 4880.

⁶⁸ Zheng, X.; Qian, Y.; Wang Y. Catalysis Communications **2010**, *11*, 567 – 570.

⁶⁹ Yang, H.; Carter, R. G. J. Org. Chem. **2009**, 74, 5151 – 5156.

⁷⁰ Sundén, H.; Rios, R.; Xu, Y.; Eriksson, L.; Córdova, A. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2007**, *349*, 2549 – 2555.

⁷¹ Xia, A.-B.; Xu, D.-Q.; Wu, C.; Zhao, L.; Xu, Z.-Y. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 1055 – 1059.

⁷² Feng, X.; Zhou, Z.; Zhou, R.; Zhou, Q.-Q.; Dong, L.; Chen, Y.-C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, 134, 19942 – 19947.

⁷³ Jang, H. B.; Rho, H. S.; Oh, J. S.; Nam, E. H.; Park, S. E.; Bae, H. Y.; Song, C.E. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2010**, *8*, 3918 – 3922.

⁷⁴ (a) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lindmaa, R.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 1565 – 1573. (b) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Eek, M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron*, **2004**, *60*, 9081 – 9084.

⁷⁵ Lam, Y.-H.; Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137, 2116 – 2127.

Reprinted with permission from Georg Thieme Verlag KG

PUBLICATION I

Preegel, G.; Noole, A; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopentane-1,2-diones to Nitroolefins *Synthesis* **2014**, 46, 2595 – 2600.

Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopentane-1,2-diones to Nitroolefins

Gert Preegel,^a Artur Noole,^a Kaja Ilmarinen,^a Ivar Järving,^a Tõnis Kanger,^a Tõnis Pehk,^b Margus Lopp^{*a}

^a Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

^b National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia Fax +372(620)2808; E-mail: margus.lopp@ttu.ee

Received: 30.04.2014; Accepted after revision: 07.06.2014

Abstract: Organocatalytic Michael additions of cyclopentane-1,2dione to different nitroolefins have been investigated. Cyclopentane-1,2-dione undergoes an organocatalytic reaction with substituted nitroolefins giving 3-substituted products in good to high yields (48–97%) and good stereoselectivity (up to 76% ee).

Key words: Michael addition, asymmetric synthesis, asymmetric catalysis, enantioselectivity, electrophilic addition, ketones

The synthesis of substituted alicyclic rings and heterocycles in a stereocontrolled manner is an important and challenging task in building skeletons of organic compounds. The availability of convenient synthetic methods for the construction of cyclic systems depends, along with other factors, on the number of carbon atoms in the ring. There are many excellent examples describing the synthesis of substituted cyclohexanes,¹ but the synthesis of analogously substituted cyclopentanes remains a challenge and requires further development,² especially because the fivemembered carbocyclic core is an important and common structural fragment in many natural and bioactive compounds.³

We have been engaged in the development of stereocontrolled methods for the synthesis of substituted cyclopentanes and lactone-acids by generating chirality via the asymmetric oxidation of cyclopentane-1,2-diones.⁴ Therefore, we are developing new methods that deliver substituted cyclopentane-1,2-diones as crucial starting compounds in order to broaden the scope of this general methodology. Additionally, cyclopentane-1,2-diones have also been used as precursors for the synthesis of various bioactive compounds.⁵

Asymmetric organocatalytic methods often offer the most efficient and environmentally benign approach for enantioselective synthesis.⁶ Our contribution to the field covers several new reactions for building C–C, C–O, and C–N bonds in different structures.⁷

The organocatalytic Michael addition of ketone enolates with nitroolefins to afford substituted nitroaldehydes with high enantio- and diastereoselectivities and yields has been well investigated.^{8,9} The enols and enolates of 1,2-diketones are less nucleophilic than those of ketones.

SYNTHESIS 2014, 46, 2595–2600 Advanced online publication: 15.07.2014 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1378374; Art ID: ss-2014-t0275-op © Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York However, it has been demonstrated that cyclohexane-1,2dione reacts in the presence of bifunctional thiourea and ephedrine derivatives with nitroolefins affording substituted bicyclo[3.2.1]octanes.¹⁰ The cascade transformation using transition-metal catalysis has also been reported.¹¹ Unsaturated aldehydes, although less active Michael acceptors than nitroolefins, undergo a Michael-aldol cascade with cyclohexane-1,2-dione affording а bicyclo[3.2.1]octane skeleton (Scheme 1, paths A and B).¹² The organocatalytic reactions outlined in Scheme 1 have not been described for cyclopentane-1,2-diones. This is not surprising, because different reactivities of cyclohexane-1,2-diones and cyclopentane-1,2-diones have also been observed previously in oxidation reactions.¹³

Recently, we demonstrated that a bis(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl) enol ether of cyclopentane-1,2-dione reacts smoothly in a Mukaiyama–Michael reaction with unsaturated aldehydes under aminocatalytic conditions (Scheme 1, path C);¹⁴ chiral cyclopentane-1,2-diones were obtained in good yields (up to 66%) and stereoselectivities (up to 94% ee). Cyclopentane-1,2-dione failed to react with unsaturated aldehydes under these conditions. In the present work, we investigated the possibilities of using unprotected cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) in reactions with nitroolefins **2** (Scheme 1, path D). Hydrogen-bonding organocatalysts were used as asymmetry inducers and for the activation of the electrophile.

During preliminary experiments conducted at room temperature, we observed complete consumption of the starting materials within one hour, delivering nitro diketone **3a** in 93% yield with 62% ee (Table 1, entry 1). The formation of a functionalized bicyclo[2.2.1]heptanone skeleton was not observed.

In order to find the most efficient catalyst, we screened two types of bifunctional H-bonding catalysts (Figure 1), quinine-derived thiourea catalysts **4a** and **4e**, and squaramides **4b**, **4c**, and **4d**. The obtained results are presented in Table 1 (entries 2, and 9–12). Experiments revealed the thiourea catalyst **4a** to be the most selective and active catalyst for the reaction, affording the optimal balance between enantioselectivity (up to 78% in CH_2Cl_2) and yield (up to 88% in CH_2Cl_2).

To improve the selectivity of the reaction, we next investigated the influence of temperature on the selectivity of the Michael addition. We observed that in toluene at a lower temperature the reaction selectivity dropped con-



O₂N

Scheme 1 Cyclic 1,2-diones in Michael reactions

siderably (entry 1 vs. 4 and 5). Similar temperature dependence was found earlier and rationalized by Jang et al. as being a result of the self-aggregation of the catalyst.¹⁵ By increasing the reaction temperature up to 50 °C, the selectivity was improved. Additional temperature elevation

\sim		P	hN	102	\sim	\rangle
\sum	$\langle \longrightarrow \rangle$	L _	2a			Ph
ó″	° 1 Ő	юн	catalyst 4a	-e O′	он 3а	
Entry	Solvent	Catalyst (5 mol%)	Temp (°C)	Time (h)	Yield ^b (%)	ee ^c (%)
1	toluene	4a	r.t.	1	93	62
2	$\mathrm{CH}_2\mathrm{Cl}_2$	4a	r.t.	4	88	78
3	CHCl ₃	4a	r.t.	4	85	76
4	toluene	4a	0	3	77	50
5	toluene	4a	-20	3	61	36
6	toluene	4a	50	0.5	79	76
7	toluene	4a	80	0.1	77	70
8	CHCl ₃	4a	50	1	77	73
9	CHCl ₃	4b	r.t.	2	83	78
10	CHCl ₃	4c	r.t.	24	2	46
11	CHCl ₃	4d	r.t.	2	43	72
12	CHCl ₃	4e	r.t.	3	97	68

^a Reaction conditions: **1** (0.24 mmol), **2a** (0.2 mmol), **4** (5 mol%), solvent (0.7 mL).

^b Isolated yield of 3a.

^c Determined by HPLC analysis on a chiral stationary phase.

caused a slight drop in selectivity (entries 1 and 5 vs. 6 and 7). In chlorinated solvents, no temperature dependence was observed (entries 1 and 6 vs. 3 and 8).

In the search for the optimal solvent for the reaction, dichloromethane, chloroform, and toluene were screened at room temperature. Under the used conditions, the solvent had little or no influence on the reaction outcome. Because of experimental convenience, dichloromethane and chloroform were chosen for further optimization.

Under optimal conditions [catalyst **4a** (5 mol%), CH_2Cl_2 or $CHCl_3$, r.t.], we next examined the substrate scope of the reaction. The results are presented in Scheme 2.

On the basis of these results, we may conclude that the reaction tolerates a variety of aromatic nitroolefins, with little dependence on the electronic nature of the substituent. The substituents in the aromatic ring also had little or no influence on the enantioselectivity. Nitroolefins with heteroaromatic substituents or an aliphatic cyclohexane group can also be used in the reaction to give products **3i–k**. Aliphatic substitution reduces the reactivity of the nitroolefin, and therefore a prolonged reaction time is necessary, for example the formation of **3k**.

The absolute configuration of compound **3b** was determined by X-ray crystal structure analysis (Figure 2). The absolute configurations of other compounds in the series were assigned in analogy.

In summary, we have developed a chiral thiourea **4a** catalyzed Michael addition reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione with nitroolefins under mild conditions. The reaction has a wide substrate scope, as even an aliphatic nitroolefin yielded the expected product in good yield and selectivity. The developed methodology offers straightforward access to useful building blocks containing versatile functional groups, broadening the possibilities of using these synthons in chemical transformations.



Figure 1 Catalysts investigated



Scheme 2 Screening of the substrate scope of the Michael addition. *Reagents and conditions*: 1 (0.24 mmol), 2 (0.2 mmol), 4a (5 mol%), CH₂Cl₂ (0.7 mL). Isolated yields are given; ee values were determined by HPLC analysis on a chiral stationary phase.



Figure 2 X-ray crystal structure of 3b

© Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York

Full assignment of ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts is based on the 1D and 2D FT NMR spectra on a 400 MHz instrument. Solvent peaks (CHCl₃/CDCl₃ δ = 7.3/77.2) were used as chemical shift references. Chiral HPLC was performed using Chiralcel OD-H and Chiralpak AD-H columns. Mass spectra were recorded by using Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD Accurate-Mass Q-TOF LC/MS spectrometer by using AJ-ESI ionization. Optical rotations were obtained by using an Anton Paar GWB Polarimeter MCP500. IR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Tensor 27 FT-IR spectrophotometer. Absolute structure of the single crystal was obtained with Bruker SMART X2S benchtop diffractometer. Precoated silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ plates

were used for TLC, whereas for column chromatography Merck silica gel was used. Commercial reagents were generally used as received. CH_2Cl_2 and EtOAc were distilled from P_2O_5 .

Synthesis of Catalysts

Sympletic characteristic characteri

Synthesis of Starting Materials

Cyclopentane-1,2-dione was prepared according to the literature procedure²¹ from commercially available cyclopentanone. Nitroolefins **2a–k** were synthesized according to a literature procedure²² from commercially available aldehydes and nitromethane.

(*R*)-2-Hydroxy-3-(2-nitro-1-phenylethyl)cyclopent-2-enone (3a); Typical Procedure

2-Hydroxycyclopent-2-enone (1, 23.5 mg, 0.2 mmol), nitrostyrene 2a (29.5 mg, 0.24 mmol), and organocatalyst 4a (6 mg, 0.01 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (0.7 mL). The mixture was stirred at r.t. for 4 h. The mixture was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, CH₂Cl₂–EtOAc, 25:1) to give 3a as a white solid; yield: 42 mg (85%); mp 154 °C; 76% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H, hexane–i-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 254 nm): $t_{R} = 24.97$ (major), 17.45 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -42.3 (*c* 0.05, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3302, 2922, 1690, 1641, 1551, 1382, 696 cm⁻¹.

 ^1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.40–7.28 (m, 5 H), 6.20 (s, 1 H), 5.31 (dd, J = 13.8, 8.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.91 (dd, J = 13.8, 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.52–4.45 (m, 1 H), 2.50–2.34 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.1, 148.8, 141.4, 136.8, 129.3, 128.4, 128.0, 76.6, 45.4, 31.7, 24.7.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{13}H_{14}NO_4$: 248.0917; found: 248.0925.

(*R*)-3-[1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-nitroethyl]-2-hydroxycyclopent-2enone (3b)

White solid; yield: 46 mg (82%); mp 144–146 °C; 62% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 31.28 (major), 33.47 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -49.1 (*c* 0.05, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3258, 2914, 1700, 1655, 1556, 1405, 1120, 840 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.37–7.31 (m, 2 H), 7.28–7.22 (m, 2 H), 6.03 (s, 1 H), 5.25 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 8.2 Hz, 1 H), 4.91 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 7.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.45 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1 H), 2.52–2.31 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 202.7, 148.8, 140.2, 135.2, 134.4, 129.6, 129.3, 76.4, 44.8, 31.7, 24.7.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₃H₁₃ClNO₄: 282.0528; found: 282.0531.

(*R*)-3-[1-(3-Bromophenyl)-2-nitroethyl]-2-hydroxycyclopent-2-enone (3c)

White solid; yield: 45 mg (70%); mp 163 °C; 56% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R} = 20.6$ (major), 31.1 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –35.8 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3335, 2923, 1696, 1655, 1551, 1407, 1125, 780, 668 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.50–7.42 (m, 2 H), 7.26–7.20 (m, 2 H), 5.91 (s, 1 H), 5.27 (dd, *J* = 13.9, 8.4 Hz, 1 H), 4.90 (dd, *J* = 13.9, 7.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.44 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1 H), 2.52–2.34 (m, 4 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 202.6, 148.9, 139.7, 139.0, 131.6, 131.0, 130.9, 126.6, 123.3, 76.23, 45.0, 31.6, 24.7.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₃H₁₃BrNO₄: 326.0022; found: 326.0029.

PAPER

2-enone (3d)

White solid; yield: 50 mg (90%); mp 98–100 °C; 59% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 20.8 (major), 26.7 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +41.9 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3278, 2918, 1701, 1655, 1554, 1407, 1250, 843 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.25–7.19 (m, 2 H), 6.91–6.85 (m, 2 H), 6.18 (s, 1 H), 5.26 (dd, J = 13.7, 8.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.88 (dd, J = 13.7, 7.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.42 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 1 H), 3.79 (s, 3 H), 2.50–2.33 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.1, 159.5, 148.6, 141.9, 129.1, 128.6, 114.7, 76.8, 55.3, 44.7, 31.7, 24.7.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{14}H_{16}NO_5$: 278.1023; found: 278.1004.

(*R*)-2-Hydroxy-3-{2-nitro-1-[4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenyl]ethyl}cyclopent-2-enone (3e) Yellow liquid; yield: 51 mg (77%); 63% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-

Yellow liquid; yield: 51 mg (77%); 63% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 19.9 (major), 18.9 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ –3.2 (*c* 0.02, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3323, 2925, 1706, 1661, 1557, 1510, 1264, 1117, 857 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.40–7.33 (m, 2 H), 7.24–7.16 (m, 2 H), 6.62 (s, 1 H), 5.26 (dd, *J* = 14.1, 7.1 Hz, 1 H), 4.93 (dd, *J* = 13.9, 7.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.50 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1 H), 2.54–2.35 (m, 4 H).

 13 C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.3, 149.1, 141.0, 135.5, 129.5, 121.8, 120.4 (q, *J* = 257.7 Hz), 76.4, 44.8, 31.8, 24.8.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{14}H_{13}F_3NO_5$: 332.074; found: 332.0743.

(*R*)-2-Hydroxy-3-{2-nitro-1-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]ethyl}cyclopent-2-enone (3f) Yellow liquid; yield: 82 mg (60%); 75% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-

Yellow liquid; yield: 82 mg (60%); 75% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 22.1 (major), 25.2 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –66.4 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3323, 2924, 1715, 1673, 1558, 1326, 1134, 850 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.63 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2 H), 7.46 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2 H), 6.66 (s, 1 H), 5.31 (ddd, *J* = 13.9, 8.1, 1.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.97 (dd, *J* = 13.9, 7.8 Hz, 1 H), 4.57 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1 H), 2.54–2.33 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.3, 149.3, 140.8, 140.6, 130.7 (dd, *J* = 65.5, 32.7 Hz), 128.5, 126.3 (dd, *J* = 7.4, 3.7 Hz), 123.8 (dd, *J* = 544.5, 272.3 Hz), 76.1, 45.1, 31.8, 24.8.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₁₃F₃NO₄: 316.0791; found: 316.0800.

(*R*)-2-Hydroxy-3-[2-nitro-1-(*m*-tolyl)ethyl]cyclopent-2-enone (3g)

White solid; yield: 52 mg (48%); mp 107–108 °C; 68% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 28.0 (major), 18.0 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –58.3 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3314, 2928, 1693, 1658, 1561, 1404, 833, 794 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.25–7.21 (m, 1 H), 7.15–7.06 (m, 3 H), 6.34 (s, 1 H), 5.29 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 8.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.90 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.48–4.41 (m, 1 H), 2.51–2.36 (m, 4 H), 2.34 (s, 3 H).

 13 C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 203.3$, 148.8, 141.9, 139.2, 136.7, 129.2, 129.1, 128.7, 125.0, 76.6, 45.4, 31.8, 24.7, 21.5.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{14}H_{16}NO_4$: 262.1074; found: 262.1081.

(R)-2-Hydroxy-3-[2-nitro-1-(*o*-tolyl)ethyl]cyclopent-2-enone (3h)

Ýelĺow liquid; yield: 37 mg (71%); 60% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 18.0 (major), 28.4 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +43.4 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3369, 2922, 1712, 1655, 1555, 1378, 1117, 794, 706 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.27–7.17 (m, 4 H), 6.66 (s, 1 H), 5.28 (dd, J = 16.0, 10.8 Hz, 1 H), 4.91–4.82 (m, 2 H), 2.49–2.32 (m, 7 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.5, 149.3, 142.1, 136.4, 135.1, 131.3, 128.1, 127.2, 127.0, 76.0, 40.8, 31.8, 24.5, 19.7.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{14}H_{16}NO_4$: 262.1074; found: 262.1091.

(*R*)-3-[1-(Furan-2-yl)-2-nitroethyl]-2-hydroxycyclopent-2enone (3i)

Yellow liquid; yield: 43 mg (91%); 70% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 254 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 13.1 (major), 16.2 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +28.3 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3492, 2925, 1716, 1673, 1558, 1407, 1106, 910 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.39 (dd, *J* = 1.8, 0.7 Hz, 1 H), 6.35 (dd, *J* = 3.2, 1.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.25 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz, 1 H), 5.87 (s, 1 H), 5.10 (dd, *J* = 13.4, 8.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.93 (dd, *J* = 13.4, 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.81 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1 H), 2.52–2.42 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 202.5, 149.3, 148.9, 142.9, 138.1, 110.7, 108.1, 74.4, 37.9, 31.7, 24.1.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₁H₁₂NO₅: 238.071; found: 238.071.

$(\it R)$ -2-Hydroxy-3-[2-nitro-1-(thiophen-2-yl)ethyl]cyclopent-2-enone (3j)

White solid; yield: 40 mg (79%); mp 120–121 °C; 67% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 254 nm): $t_{\rm R}$ = 36.8 (major), 43.2 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –49.9 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3315, 2918, 1699, 1658, 1552, 1407, 1124, 662 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.26 (dd, *J* = 5.1, 1.3 Hz, 1 H), 7.00 (ddd, *J* = 8.6, 4.3, 2.3 Hz, 2 H), 6.57 (s, 1 H), 5.28–5.18 (m, 1 H), 4.91 (dq, *J* = 14.4, 7.1 Hz, 2 H), 2.54–2.42 (m, 4 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 203.3, 148.9, 140.8, 138.3, 127.4, 126.3, 125.6, 76.7, 39.6, 31.9, 24.3.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₁H₁₂NO₅S: 254.0482; found: 254.0486.

(*R*)-3-(1-Cyclohexyl-2-nitroethyl)-2-hydroxycyclopent-2-enone (3k)

White solid; yield: 34 mg (67%); mp 117–118 °C; 70% ee [HPLC (Chiralcel AD-H, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1 mL/min, 230 nm): $t_R = 17.9$ (major), 20.4 min (minor)].

 $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –3.7 (*c* 0.04, MeOH).

IR (KBr): 3344, 2926, 2856, 1694, 1655, 1558, 1408, 1107 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 5.81 (s, 1 H), 4.84 (dd, *J* = 12.8, 10.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.67 (dd, *J* = 12.9, 4.7 Hz, 1 H), 3.19 (ddd, *J* = 10.9, 7.9, 4.7 Hz, 1 H), 2.52–2.39 (m, 4 H), 1.84–1.59 (m, 6 H), 1.33–0.99 (m, 5 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 202.6, 150.0, 142.7, 75.3, 44.4, 39.0, 31.8, 31.1, 30.9, 26.1, 26.1, 26.0, 25.4.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{13}H_{20}NO_4$: 254.1387; found: 254.1389.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by institutional research funding IUT (19-32) of the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research and EU European Regional Development Fund (3.2.0101.08-0017) for financial support.

Supporting Information for this article is available online at http://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/journal/ 10.1055/s-00000084.

References

- Selected general reviews on cyclohexanes: (a) Pandolfi, E.; Schapiro, V.; Heguaburu, V.; Labora, M. *Curr. Org. Synth.* **2013**, *10*, 2. (b) Orloff, H. D. *Chem. Rev.* **1954**, *54*, 347.
 (c) Marco-Contelles, J.; Molina, M. T.; Anjum, S. *Chem. Rev.* **2004**, *104*, 2857. (d) Rubinov, D. B.; Rubinova, I. L.; Akhrem, A. A. *Chem. Rev.* **1999**, *99*, 1047. (e) *Alkanes and Cycloalkanes*; Patai, S.; Rappoport, Z., Eds.; Wiley: Chichester, **1992**.
- (2) (a) Heasley, B. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2009, 1477.
 (b) Hudlicky, T.; Price, J. D. *Chem. Rev.* 1989, *89*, 1467.
 (c) Trost, B. M.; Schroeder, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122*, 3785. (d) Wang, Z.; Reinus, B. J.; Dong, G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 13954. (e) Varea, T.; Alcalde, A.; Dicastillo, C. L.; Arellano, C. R.; Cossío, F. P.; Asensio, G. *J. Org. Chem.* 2012, *77*, 6327.
- (3) (a) Ding, Y.; Girardet, J.-L.; Smith, K. L.; Larson, G.; Brett, P.; Lai, V. C. H.; Zhong, W.; Wu, J. Z. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2005, 15, 675. (b) Helmchen, G.; Ernst, M.; Paradies, G. Pure Appl. Chem. 2004, 76, 495. (c) Kurteva, V. B.; Afonso, C. A. M. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 6809. (d) Liu, G.; Shirley, M. E.; Van K, N.; McFarlin, R. L.; Romo, D. Nat. Chem. 2013, 5, 1049.
- (4) (a) Niidu, A.; Paju, A.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Järving, I.; Kailas, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 2013, 48, 1751. (b) Niidu, A.; Paju, A.; Eek, M.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 2678. (c) Paju, A.; Oja, K.; Matkevitš, K.; Lumi, P.; Järving, I.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. Heterocycles 2014, 88, 981.
- (5) (a) Taniguchi, T.; Tanabe, G.; Muraoka, O.; Ishibashi, H. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 197. (b) Taniguchi, T.; Ishibashi, H. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 8773. (c) Winkler, C. K.; Stueckler, C.; Mueller, N. J.; Pressnitz, D.; Faber, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 6354. (d) Jõgi, A.; Ilves, M.; Paju, A.; Pehk, T.; Kailas, T.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2008, 19, 628. (e) Paju, A.; Laos, M.; Jõgi, A.; Päri, M.; Jäälaid, R.; Pehk, T.; Kanger, T.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 4491. (f) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Eek, M.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 9081.
- (6) Selected general reviews on organocatalysis: (a) Bertelsen, S.; Jørgensen, K. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 2178.
 (b) Asymmetric Organocatalysis, In Topics in Current Chemistry; Vol. 291; List, B., Ed.; Springer: Berlin, 2009.
 (c) Tsakos, M.; Kokotos, C. G. Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 10199. (d) Moyano, A.; Rios, R. Chem. Rev. 2011, 111, 4703.
- (7) (a) Noole, A.; Sucman, N. S.; Kabeshov, M. A.; Kanger, T.; Macaev, F. Z.; Malkov, A. V. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 14929. (b) Noole, A.; Järving, I.; Werner, F.; Lopp, M.; Malkov, A.; Kanger, T. *Org. Lett.* **2012**, *14*, 4922. (c) Noole, A.; Ošeka, M.; Pehk, T.; Öeren, M.; Järving, I.; Elsegood, M.

[©] Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York

R. J.; Malkov, A. V.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 829. (d) Noole, A.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 8117.
(e) Žari, S.; Kailas, T.; Kudrjashova, M.; Öeren, M.; Järving, I.; Tamm, T.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2012, 8, 1452. (f) Žari, S.; Kudrjashova, M.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 1740.

- (8) (a) Zheng, Z.; Perkins, B. L.; Ni, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 50. (b) Hayashi, Y.; Itoh, T.; Ohkubo, M.; Ishikawa, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 4722. (c) García-García, P.; Ladépêche, A.; Halder, R.; List, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 4719. (d) Betancort, J. M.; Barbas, C. F. III Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3737. (e) Sahoo, G.; Rahaman, H.; Madarász, Á.; Pápai, I.; Melarto, M.; Valkonen, A.; Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 13144.
- (9) (a) Ramachary, D. B.; Sakthidevi, R.; Shruthi, K. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 8008. (b) Ban, S.; Zhu, X.; Zhang, Z.; Xie, H.; Li, Q. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 2977. (c) Mandal, T.; Zhao, C.-G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 5803. (d) Ding, D.; Zhao, C.-G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2010, 51, 1322. (e) List, B.; Pojarliev, P.; Martin, H. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2423.
- (10) (a) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Frölich, R. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 4173. (b) Ding, D.; Zhao, C.-G.; Guo, Q.; Arman, H. *Tetrahedron* **2010**, *66*, 4423.

- (11) Li, W.; Liu, X.; Mao, Z.; Chen, Q.; Wang, R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 4767.
- (12) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Tato, F.; Bats, J. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 3699.
- (13) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T. M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 7321.
- (14) Reile, I.; Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2012**, *53*, 1476.
- (15) Jang, H. B.; Rho, H. S.; Oh, J. S.; Nam, E. H.; Park, S. E.; Bae, H. Y.; Song, C. E. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2010, 8, 3918.
- (16) Vakulya, B.; Varga, S.; Csámpai, A.; Soós, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1967.
- (17) Noole, A.; Järving, I.; Werner, F.; Lopp, M.; Malkov, A.; Kanger, T. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 4922.
- (18) Bae, H. Y.; Some, S.; Lee, J. H.; Kim, J.-Y.; Song, M. J.; Lee, S.; Zhang, Y. J.; Song, C. E. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2011, 353, 3196.
- (19) Albrecht, L.; Dickmeiss, G.; Acosta, F. C.; Rodríguez-Escrich, C.; Davis, R. I.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 2543.
- (20) Lee, J. W.; Ryu, T. H.; Oh, J. S.; Bae, H. Y.; Jang, H. B.; Song, C. E. Chem. Commun. 2009, 7224.
- (21) Wrobel, J.; Cook, J. M. Synth. Commun. 1980, 10, 333.
- (22) Bharathiraja, G.; Sakthivel, S.; Sengoden, M.; Punniyamuthy, T. *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15*, 4996.

Reprinted with permission from Georg Thieme Verlag KG

PUBLICATION II

Preegel, G.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition-Cyclization Cascade of Cyclopentane-1,2-dione with Substituted (E)-2-oxobut-3-enoates *Synthesis* **2015**, 47, 3805 – 3812.

Syn thesis

G. Preegel et al.

Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition–Cyclization Cascade of Cyclopentane-1,2-dione with Substituted (*E*)-2-oxobut-3-enoates

R¹ = Me. Et. *i*-Pr

Gert Preegel^a Kaja Ilmarinen^a Ivar Järving^a Tõnis Kanger^a Tõnis Pehk^b Margus Lopp^{*a}



R² = Ph, 4-CIC₆H₄, 4-BrC₆H₄, 2-CIC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-NO₂C₆H₄, 2-thienyl, cyclohexyl

^a Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology,

Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia ^b National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics,

Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

margus.lopp@ttu.ee

Received: 27.06.2015 Accepted after revision: 28.08.2015 Published online: 01.10.2015 DOI: 10.1055/s-0035-1560347; Art ID: ss-2015-z0404.op

Abstract An organocatalytic cascade Michael addition-cyclization reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione with substituted (*E*)-2-oxobut-3enoates, creating two stereocenters and giving bicyclic hemiacetals **3** in excellent yield (up to 93%) and enantioselectivity (up to 96% ee) was developed. From 2-chlorophenyl-substituted (*E*)-2-oxobut-3-enoate, the adduct revealed pseudo-atropisomerism from the hindered rotation of the phenyl ring. The hemiacetal **3** was reduced with Et₃SiH and Lewis acid affording substituted 1,2-cyclopentanedione **8**, and disilylated with an excess of TMSOTf and Et₃N to the dienol disilyl ether **9**.

Key words organocatalysis, cascade reactions, atropisomerism, stereoselectivity

Asymmetric organocatalytic cascade reactions, because of their efficiency and experimental simplicity, have been the focus of researchers for many years. Different nucleophiles and eletrophiles have been used to build various reaction cascades. Among the structural fragments, the 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds have been found suitable for different cascade reactions and, therefore, have been investigated thoroughly.^{1–6} Thus, different cyclic 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds have been successfully used as nucleophiles with unsaturated¹ and saturated aldehydes,² with acetates of nitroalkenes,³ with α -hydroxymethyl nitroalkenes,⁴ with β -formyl esters,⁵ and with α , β -unsaturated N-acylated succinimides.⁶

In contrast, 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds have received little attention. There are only a few examples of the use of cyclohexane-1,2-dione: nucleophilic additions to alde-hydes,⁷ nitroalkenes,⁸ and keto esters.⁹ Similar 2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinones have also been used as Michael do-nors with keto esters.¹⁰ For cyclopentane-1,2-dione there is only one example of the reaction with nitrostyrenes.¹¹ Ad-

ditionally, the reaction with α , β -unsaturated aldehydes with cyclopentane-1,2-dione dienolate was described by our group recently.¹²

Many research groups have reported the usefulness of 2-oxobut-3-enoates substituted 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds in various reactions.13 These compounds when acting as Michael acceptors afford different cyclic structures of interest: 3-substituted indoles,14 4-hydroxycoumarins,15 hemiacetal esters,16 and amino acid derivatives from isocyanides.17 In addition, these compounds undergo organocatalytic cascade aldol reaction with 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds giving a bicyclic pyran derivative,18 a hetero-Diels-Alder reaction with aldehydes¹⁹ and dihydropyrans.²⁰ Similar pyran substructural units have been previously synthesized via Nazarov cyclization²⁰ and by a tandem Nazarov cyclization-Michael addition sequence.²¹ Substituted pyrans and similar structural units are present in several antiviral ingredients, being valuable intermediates in the synthesis of bioactive compounds.22

In this article, we present our results on a cascade reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) with substituted α -keto esters 2 giving novel bicyclic pyran derivatives 3 in excellent yields and stereoselectivities.

In organocatalysis, hydrogen bonding catalysis has been widely studied in recent years, ²³ because of its evident benefits: high catalytic output, stability in air and water, and reusability. Similar to aminocatalysts, the H-bonding catalysts activate carbonyl groups in chemical reactions. In our case, four carbonyl groups are present in the reaction of α , β -unsaturated keto esters with cyclopentane-1,2-dione in which two pairs of them are in vicinal position. Therefore, bifunctional hydrogen bonding catalysts, activating both electrophile and nucleophile, seemed a reasonable choice from the group of the organocatalysts.

A 3806

The preliminary results of the cascade reaction with cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) with phenyl-substituted keto ester **2a** by using Soos's type organocatalyst **4a** in toluene were promising, affording hemiacetal **3a** in 35% yield with excellent stereoselectivity (96% ee, Table 1, entry 1) in a very short reaction time (15 min). The formation of predominantly only one diastereomer was observed.

To find the optimal reaction conditions, a model reaction with cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) and phenyl-substituted keto ester **2a-Me** was screened using different catalysts and solvents. The results are presented in Table 1.

We found that with catalyst **4a** the stereoselectivity of the reaction did not notabaly depend on the solvent; the stereoselectivity in toluene, dichloromethane, CHCl₃, and THF was almost equal. However, the best yields of product **3** were obtained in dichloromethane (Table 1, entries 1–4). Therefore, the screening of the catalysts was made using dichloromethane as the solvent. All of the used H-bonding catalysts resulted in very high stereoselectivity in the reaction. The best yield of product **3a** (89%) was obtained with the Takemoto-type catalyst **4c** (loading of 5 mol%), also affording excellent stereoselectivity (96% ee) in a very short reaction time (15 min, entry 6).

Table 1 Screening of the Catalyst and the Solvent^a

We propose that the reaction proceeds according to a pathway presented in Scheme 1, where one of the 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds, 1,2-cyclopentanedione (1), acts as a nucleophile and the other, 2-oxobut-3-enoate **2a-Me**, as an electrophile, both activated by the catalyst.

First, a Michael addition of the cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) (in keto–enol form) to α , β -unsaturated keto ester **2a-Me** takes place, forming an adduct 5 (in equilibrium with its enol tautomer 6). The Michael acceptor is activated via hydrogen bonds of the thiourea catalyst. At the same time, the tertiary amino group of the bifunctional catalyst **4c** acts as a hydrogen bond, acceptor shifting the equilibrium of cyclic diketone 1 towards the nucleophilic enol form. Because of keto-enol tautomerism, only one stereogenic center is formed in the first step of the cascade. In the preferred transition state, the *si*-face of the acceptor is favored, affording product in *R*-configuration. The following stereoselective cyclization of 5 (R-configuration) via hemiacetalization of enol 6 (S-configuration) resulted in hemiacetal 3a-Me (Sconfiguration), which was isolated as a single diastereomer with OH and Ph groups in the trans-position (according to



Life y	Solvent	Catalyst 4 (mol/s)	Flouuct 3a-We	
			Yield (%)	ee (%)
1	toluene	4a (10)	35	96
2	CH ₂ Cl ₂	4a (10)	75	95
3	CHCl ₃	4a (10)	70	95
4	THF	4a (10)	63	98
5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	4b (5)	66	95
6	CH ₂ Cl ₂	4c (5)	89	96 ^b

^a Conditions: 1 (0.24 mmol), 2a-Me (0.2 mmol), catalyst 4 (5 and 10 mol%); r.t., 15 min; isolated yield after column chromatography; ee determined by HPLC analysis on a Chiralpak AS-H column. Always a single diastereoisomer was obtained.
^b Formation of the opposite enantiomer was observed.

© Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York - Synthesis 2015, 47, 3805-3812





NMR spectra and X-ray crystal structure analysis, the absolute configuration according to X-ray crystal structure analysis). Dehydration product **7** was not detected.

Under the used conditions (catalyst **4c**, 5 mol%; α , β -unsaturated methyl keto ester **2a-Me**, CH₂Cl₂, r.t., 15 min,), the scope of the cascade reaction of cyclopentane-1,2-dione (**1**) with substituted (*E*)-2-oxobut-3-enoates **2** was investigated. The obtained results are presented in Scheme 2. Always the formation of single diastereoisomers was observed.

The electronic properties of the aromatic ring of α,β -unsaturated keto esters **2** did not influence the reaction: both **2e** (with an electron-donating group) and **2f** (with an electron-withdrawing group) reacted smoothly and afforded similar stereoselectivies. In addition, heteroaromatic thiophene substituted **2g** afforded the hemiacetal **3g** in slightly lower yield, but with good stereoselectivity. The change of methyl ester **2a-Me** to the more bulkier ethyl **2a-Et** and isopropyl ester **2a-iPr** slightly decreased the yield and enantioselectivity of the reaction. It is noteworthy that alicyclic β unsaturated- α -keto ester **2h** also afforded the addition-cyclization product **3h** with good enantioselectivity, although in slightly lower yield. 3-Substituted cyclopentane-1,2-diones gave unsuccessful results in the reaction with (*E*)-2oxobut-3-enoates.

A special case was the 2-Cl-substituted hemiacetal **3d** (Scheme 2). In the NMR spectra, a hindered rotation of the singly 2-chloro-substituted phenyl ring around the substituted pyran ring was observed and a dynamic equilibrium between the two conformers exists. This phenomenon is

best illustrated by the temperature dependence of the NMR spectra of the compound **3d**. In Figure 1, the fragments from ¹H and ¹³C spectra of **3d** at room temperature and at -20 °C are presented.



© Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York – Synthesis 2015, 47, 3805–3812



Scheme 2 Scope of the reaction. All yields are isolated yields after column chromatography; all ee values were determined by HPLC on a Chiralpak AS-H column. ^a Reaction time 1 h.

The spectra of 3d single diastereomer and the temperature dependence of the isomeric ratio point to atropisomerism with a comparatively low energy interconversion barrier between unequally populated rotational isomers. Atropisomers are usually defined with a half-life of at least 1000 seconds at 300 K.^{24,25} In the present case, the room temperature half-life of 3d is in millisecond range, with an atropisomer ratio of 5 to 1, the main isomer being P (aR, axially Rectus, plus) with the chlorine atom pointing towards the OH group (Figure 1). The assignment of the P configuration of the main isomer is based on the large downfield shift of $H-3_{ax}$ from the inductive effect of chlorine in the minor isomer, the strongest NOE effect being from H-6 of the main isomer to $H-3_{ax}$ and on the AM1 calculations of the optimized geometry of the *P* and *M* (a*S*, axially Sinister, minus) conformers of **3d** with an Arguslab 4.0.1²⁶ program. In both the *P* and *M* conformers, the calculated dihedral angle between C2*C1*C4H4 for optimized geometry was close to zero degree, which is also close to that obtained from X-ray data for compound **3b** (Figure 2, 3.5°). The P-isomer was calculated to be more stable by 1.1 kcal/mol, which should be compared with the experimental value from the 5 to 1

ratio of the isomers, giving a 0.95 kcal/mol energy difference for the conformers. Downloaded by: Tallinn University of Technology Library. Copyrighted material.



Figure 2 X-ray crystal structure of compound 3b

The absolute configuration of the product **3b** was determined by an X-ray single crystal structure analysis to be 2R,4S. The absolute configurations of the other obtained compounds were proposed by analogy with the crystal structure (Figure 2).

By reducing bicyclic product **3a-Me** with Et_3SiH in the presence of Lewis acid, the monocyclic product **8** was obtained (Scheme 3). The keto group in the keto ester moiety


A 3809

was reduced to an alcohol group. Two diastereoisomers were obtained in a 4 to 1 ratio with the prevailing thermodynamically more stable *trans*-isomer.

Furthermore, bicyclic product **3a-Me** when treated with an excess of silylating agent TMSOTf and Et₃N gave a disilylated dienol **9** (Scheme 3). The compounds **8** and **9** are valuable starting materials for further derivatizations, for example, for asymmetric oxidation, resulting in lactone carboxylic acids.²⁷

Full assignments of the ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts are based on the 1D and 2D FT NMR spectra measured on a Bruker Avance III 400 and 800 MHz instruments. The residual solvent peaks (CHCl₃/CDCl₃, $\delta = 7.26/77.2$) or TMS (TMS, $\delta = 0.00$) were used as the chemical shift references. The chiral HPLC was performed using a Chiralpak AS-H column. The mass spectra were recorded on Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD Accurate-Mass Q-TOF LC/MS spectrometer by using AJ-ESI ionization. The optical rotations were measured using an Anton Paar GWB Polarimeter MCP 500. The IR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Tensor 27 Fourier transform IR spectrophotometer. The absolute structure of a single crystal was obtained with a Rigaku Saturn944+ diffractometer. The Merck precoated silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ plates were used for TLC, whereas for column chromatography the Merck 60 (0.040–0.063 mm) mesh silica gel was used. The commercial reagents and solvents were generally used as received.

Cyclopentane-1,2-dione (1) was prepared according to literature procedure²⁸ from commercially available cyclopentanone. γ -Aryl- β , γ -unsaturated- α -keto esters **2a-g** were prepared according to literature procedure²⁹ from the corresponding commercially available carbaldehydes and pyruvic acid. γ -Alkyl- β , γ -unsaturated- α -keto ester **2h** was prepared also according to the literature procedure³⁰ from the corresponding carbaldehyde and methyl pyruvate.

Thiourea catalysts **4a**,³¹ **4c**,³² and squaramide catalyst **4b**³³ were prepared according to the literature procedures.

4-Substituted Methyl 2-Hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylates; Methyl (2R,4S)-2-Hydroxy-7oxo-4-phenyl-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3a-Me); Typical Procedure

2-Hydroxycyclopent-2-enone (1; 23.5 mg, 0.24 mmol), keto ester **2a** (38.0 mg, 0.2 mmol), and the organocatalyst **4c** (4.1 mg, 0.01 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (0.7 mL). The mixture was stirred at r.t. until completion of the reaction (TLC monitoring, eluent: CH₂Cl₂-EtOAc, 25:1). The mixture was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂-

EtOAc, 25:1) to afford **3a-Me** as a white solid; yield: 51 mg (89%); mp 124–126 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +152.4 (*c* 0.05, MeOH); 96% ee [deteremined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane–*i*-PrOH (9:1), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 37.7 min, t_R (minor) = 62.7 min].

IR (KBr): 3244, 2981, 1753, 1696, 1646, 1455, 1288, 1140, 1113, 1016, 703 $\rm cm^{-1}$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.41–7.20 (m, 5 H), 4.83 (s, 1 H), 3.98 (ddm, *J* = 11.9, 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 3.86 (s, 3 H), 2.42–2.24 (m, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.7, 169.3, 148.4, 148.2, 139.5, 129.1, 128.2, 127.6, 95.6, 53.6, 38.4, 36.1, 32.8, 23.3.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for [C₁₆H₁₆O₅]⁺: 289.1071; found: 289.1071.

Ethyl (2*R*,4*S*)-2-Hydroxy-7-oxo-4-phenyl-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate (3a-Et)

Yield: 40 mg (66%); colorless oil; $[\alpha]_0^{25}$ +139.3 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 94% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 9.8 min, t_R (minor) = 18.7 min].

IR (film): 3392, 2983, 1748, 1712, 1648, 1495, 1454, 1228, 1137, 1110, 1024, 844, 755 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.41–7.21 (m, 5 H), 4.72 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.38–4.24 (m, 2 H), 3.97 (ddm, J = 11.9, 6.6 Hz, 1 H), 2.43–2.24 (m, 6 H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 200.4, 168.9, 148.5, 148.0, 139.6, 129.1, 128.3, 127.6, 95.5, 63.3, 38.5, 36.2, 32.8, 23.3, 14.0.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for [C₁₇H₁₈O₅]: 303.1227; found: 303.1231.

Isopropyl (2R,4S)-2-Hydroxy-7-oxo-4-phenyl-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3a-i-Pr)

Yield: 44 mg (70%); white solid; mp 55–56 °C; $[\alpha]_0^{25}$ +130.5 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 87% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 7.5 min, t_R (minor) = 11.8 min].

IR (KBr): 3229, 2983, 1741, 1699, 1643, 1495, 1405, 1246, 1179, 1099, 846, 767 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.42–7.21 (m, 5 H), 5.12 (hept, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.70 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.99–3.91 (m, 1 H), 2.43–2.23 (m, 6 H), 1.29 and 1.33 (2 d, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 198.8, 166.6, 146.8, 146.2, 137.9, 127.3, 126.5, 125.7, 93.6, 69.8, 36.8, 34.4, 31.0, 21.4, 19.8.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $[C_{18}H_{20}O_5]^+$: 317.1384; found: 317.1384.

G. Preegel et al.

Methyl (2*R*,4*S*)-4-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate (3b)

Yield: 47 mg (73%); white solid; mp 141–142 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +186.0 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 89% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 20.1 min, t_R (minor) = 29.5 min].

IR (KBr): 3400, 2955, 1753, 1708, 1648, 1492, 1381, 1244, 1180, 1111, 1015, 845, 818 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.38–7.33 (m, 2 H), 7.20–7.15 (m, 2 H), 4.77 (s, 1 H), 3.96 (ddm, *J* = 11.9, 6.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.87 (s, 3 H), 2.44–2.21 (m, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.4, 169.1, 148.5, 147.1, 138.0, 133.4, 129.6, 129.3, 95.5, 53.7, 37.9, 36.0, 32.7, 23.2.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for [C₁₆H₁₅ClO₅]⁺: 323.0681; found: 323.0681.

Methyl (2R,4S)-4-(4-Bromophenyl)-2-hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3c)

Yield: 68 mg (93%); white solid; mp 140–142 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +119.5 (*c* 0.05, MeOH); 95% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 19.5 min, t_R (minor) = 30.8 min].

IR (KBr): 3400, 2954, 1753, 1708, 1648, 1489, 1283, 1244, 1179, 1112, 1073, 1010, 904, 818 $\rm cm^{-1}$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.54–7.49 (m, 2 H), 7.14–7.09 (m, 2 H), 4.68 (s, 1 H), 3.94 (ddm, *J* = 11.9, 6.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.87 (s, 3 H), 2.43–2.21 (m, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.4, 169.1, 148.5, 146.9, 138.5, 132.3, 130.0, 121.5, 95.5, 53.7, 38.0, 36.0, 32.7, 23.2.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $[C_{16}H_{15}BrO_5]^+$: 367.0176; found: 367.0174.

Methyl (2R,4R)-4-(2-Chlorophenyl)-2-hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3d)

Yield: 31 mg (48%); white solid; mp 65–66 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +82.3 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 94% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 16.8 min, t_R (minor) = 40.0 min].

IR (KBr): 3400, 2955, 1754, 1710, 1648, 1440, 1284, 1229, 1180, 1112, 1077, 1036, 904, 758 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

2R,4R-Isomer (major, P-configuration)

¹H NMR (800 MHz, CDCl₃, 253 K): $\delta = 7.42$ (dd, J = 8.0, 1.0 Hz, 1 H, H-3*), 7.29 (ddd, J = 8.0, 7.5, 1.0 Hz, 1 H, H-5*), 7.24 (td, J = 8.0, 1.5 Hz, 1 H, H-4*), 7.13 (dd, J = 7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1 H, H-6*), 5.11 (d, J = 1.3 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.63 (dd, J = 12.2, 6.1 Hz, 1 H, H-4), 3.84 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 2.44 (m, 2 H, H-6), 2.37 (dd, J = 13.6, 6.1 Hz, 1 H, H-3eq), 2.32 (m, 2 H, H-5), 2.21 (ddd, J = 13.6, 1.2, 1.3 Hz, 1 H, H-3ea); * refers to the numbering of the aromatic ring.

 ^{13}C NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃, 253 K): δ = 201.3 (C-7), 169.2 (CO₂), 149.1 (C-7a), 147.9 (C-4a), 137.0 (C-1*), 134.4 (C-2*), 130.0 (C-3*), 128.9 (C-6*), 128.8 (C-4*), 127.6 (C-5*), 95.6 (C-2), 54.0 (OCH₃), 35.1 (C-3), 34.5 (C-4), 32.7 (C-6), 23.2 C-5); * refers to the numbering of the aromatic ring.

2R,4R-Isomer (minor, M-configuration)

¹H NMR (800 MHz, CDCl₃, 253 K): δ = 7.36 (br m, 1 H, H-6^{*}), 7.34 (br m, 1 H, H-3^{*}), 7.29 (br m, 2 H, H-4^{*}, H-5^{*}), 5.09 (d, *J* = 1.3 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.35 (br m, 1 H, H-4), 3.85 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 2.85 (br t, *J* = 2 × 12.5 Hz, 1 H, H-3*ax*), 2.44 (m, 2 H, H-6), 2.32 (m, 2 H, H-5), 2.11 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 5.8 Hz, 1 H, H-3*eq*); * refers to the numbering of the aromatic ring.

 ^{13}C NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃, 253 K): δ = 201.2 (C-7), 169.4 (CO₂), 148.7 (C-7a), 147.7 (C-4a), 136.0 (C-1*), 133.4 (C-2*), 133.0 (C-3*), 131.2 (C-6*), 129.5 (C-4*), 127.6 (C-5*), 95.5 (C-2), 54.0 (OCH₃), 39.7 (C-4), 32.8 (C-6), 32.0 (C-3), 23.8 C-5); * refers to the numbering of the aromatic ring.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $[C_{16}H_{15}CIO_5]^+$: 323.0681; found: 323.0678.

Methyl (2R,4R)-2-Hydroxy-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3e)

Yield: 44 mg (69%); white solid; mp 64–66 °C; $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +162.2 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 91% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_{R} (major) = 25.3 min, t_{R} (minor) = 53.9 min].

IR (KBr): 3398, 2955, 1753, 1708, 1646, 1513, 1442, 1253, 1179, 1110, 1077, 1030, 838, 819 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.17–7.12 (m, 2 H), 6.93–6.88 (m, 2 H), 4.64 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1 H), 3.92 (dd, *J* = 11.7, 6.6 Hz, 1 H), 3.87 (s, 3 H), 3.82 (s, 3 H), 2.41–2.24 (m, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.6, 169.3, 159.0, 148.6, 148.2, 131.4, 129.2, 114.4, 95.6, 55.3, 53.7, 37.6, 36.2, 32.8, 23.3.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $[C_{17}H_{18}O_6]^+$: 319.1176; found: 319.1176.

Methyl (2*R*,4*S*)-2-Hydroxy-4-(4-nitrophenyl)-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate (3f)

Yield: 57 mg (86%); white solid; mp 145–146 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +137.2 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 94% ee [determined by HPLC on Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 52.3 min, t_R (minor) = 84.2 min].

IR (KBr): 3307, 2958, 1758, 1707, 1644, 1521, 1439, 1346, 1142, 1116, 980, 865, 722 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 8.29–8.23 (m, 2 H), 7.46–7.41 (m, 2 H), 4.74 (s, 1 H), 4.12 (t, J = 9.2 Hz, 1 H), 3.88 (s, 3 H), 2.46–2.20 (m, 6 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.1, 168.8, 148.8, 147.5, 147.1, 145.1, 129.2, 124.4, 95.3, 53.8, 38.4, 35.8, 32.7, 23.1.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for [C₁₆H₁₅NO₇]⁺: 334.0921; found: 334.0919.

Methyl (2R,4S)-2-Hydroxy-7-oxo-4-(thiophen-2-yl)-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[b]pyran-2-carboxylate (3g)

Yield: 35 mg (59%); white solid; mp 132–133 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +122.8 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 88% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 26.4 min, t_R (minor) = 45.1 min].

IR (KBr): 3243, 2951, 1751, 1696, 1647, 1436, 1296, 1108, 1013, 706 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.28–7.25 (m, 1 H), 7.03–6.96 (m, 2 H), 4.75 (d, J = 1.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.34 (dd, J = 10.5, 7.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.88 (s, 3 H), 2.46–2.31 (m, 6 H).

Paper

Syn thesis

G. Preegel et al.

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 200.5, 169.1, 147.5, 147.2, 141.9, 127.1, 125.9, 124.7, 95.6, 53.8, 36.3, 33.6, 32.7, 23.2.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $[C_{14}H_{14}O_5S]^+$: 295.0635; found: 295.0634.

Methyl (2*R*,4*S*)-4-Cyclohexyl-2-hydroxy-7-oxo-2,3,4,5,6,7-hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate (3h)

Yield: 25 mg (42%); white solid; mp 114 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +49.5 (*c* 0.05, MeOH); 90% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; t_R (major) = 15.2 min, t_R (minor) = 21.3 min].

IR (KBr): 3231, 2925, 2851, 1738, 1689, 1643, 1439, 1290, 1113, 1003, 831 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 4.54 (s, 1 H), 3.86 (s, 3 H), 2.80–2.72 (m, 1 H), 2.58–2.41 (m, 4 H), 2.04 (dt, *J* = 13.7, 6.3 Hz, 1 H), 1.95 (dd, *J* = 13.4, 6.2 Hz, 1 H), 1.87–1.62 (m, 5 H), 1.38–1.04 (m, 6 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 200.5, 169.7, 149.7, 148.6, 95.8, 53.6, 38.6, 36.5, 32.8, 31.0, 28.2, 28.0, 26.8, 26.6, 26.4, 23.2.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $[C_{16}H_{22}O_5]^+$: 295.1540; found: 295.1539.

Methyl 2-Hydroxy-4-(2-hydroxy-3-oxocyclopent-1-en-1-yl)-4phenylbutanoate (8)

According to a modified literature procedure,³⁴ hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate **3a-Me** (80 mg, 0.28 mmol) was dissolved in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL). Et₂SiH (49 mg, 0.42 mmol) and BF₃-OEt₂ (45 mg, 0.32 mmol) were added under dry argon flow at –76 °C. The mixture was warmed to 0 °C over 4 h and stirred overnight at 0 °C. The reaction was quenched with H₂O (5 mL) and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 × 5 mL). The organic phases were combined and dried (Na₂SO₄). The solvent was evaporated and the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂–EtOAc, 5:1) to afford the product as a transparent oil; yield: 38 mg (47%); colorless oil; [α]_D²⁵ –6.8 (*c* 0.04, MeOH); 97% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (8:2), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; *t*_R (major) = 22.7 min, *t*_R (minor) = 30.8 min].

IR (film): 3356, 2954, 1695, 1651, 1601, 1495, 1441, 1391, 1225, 1102, 913, 732, 703 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

Ratio of 2S/2R = 4:1. In the most stable conformation, the chain from C-1 to phenyl ring is *trans* oriented. In this conformation, H-2 and H-4 from *S*,*S*-isomer are low-field shifted from the OH group of the five-membered ring and from the 2-OH, correspondingly. The 2*S*,*4S*-isomer is, according to AM1 calculations, more stable by 0.56 kcal/mol.

2S,4S-Isomer (major)

¹H NMR (800 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.29–7.26 (m, 4 H, C₆H₅ H-o,m), 7.21–7.19 (m, 1 H, C₆H₅ H-p), 6.14 (br s, 1 H, enol OH), 4.19 (dd, *J* = 10.4, 5.5 Hz, 1 H, H-4), 4.15 (dd, *J* = 9.3, 3.7 Hz, 1 H, H-2), 3.65 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.06 (br s, 1 H, 2-OH), 2.68 (ddd, *J* = 13.9, 10.4, 3.7 Hz, 1 H, H-5*), 2.15 (ddd, *J* = 13.9, 9.3, 5.5 Hz, 1 H, H-3); * refers to the numbering of cyclopentenyl ring.

¹³C NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.7 (C-3*), 175.4 (CO₂), 148.8 (C-2*), 146.9 (C-1*), 141.4 (C-*i*), 128.9 (C-*m*), 128.2 (C-*o*), 127.3 (C-*p*), 68.9 (C-2), 52.8 (OCH₃), 41.6 (C-4), 37.0 (C-3), 31.9 (C-4*), 23.8 C-5*); * refers to the numbering of cyclopentenyl ring.

2R,4S-Isomer (minor)

¹H NMR (800 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.29–7.26 (m, 4 H, C₆H₅ H-o,m), 7.21–7.19 (m, 1 H, C₆H₅ H-p), 6.07 (br s, 1 H, enol OH), 4.19 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 5.8 Hz, 1 H, H-4), 4.15 (dd, *J* = 9.6, 3.5 Hz, 1 H, H-2), 3.70 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 2.91 (br s, 1 H, 2-OH), 2.57 (ddd, *J* = 14.0, 9.9, 3.5 Hz, 1 H, H-3), 2.39 (m, 1 H, H-5^{*}), 2.32 (m, 2 H, H-4^{*}), 2.27 (m, 1 H, H-5^{*}), 2.26 (ddd, *J* = 14.0, 9.6, 5.9 Hz, 1 H, H-3); * refers to the numbering of cyclopentenyl ring.

Paper

 ^{13}C NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 203.9 (C-3*), 175.7 (CO₂), 148.3 (C-2*), 147.7 (C-1*), 140.5 (C-i), 129.0 (C-m), 128.4 (C-o), 127.4 (C-p), 68.5 (C-2), 52.8 (OCH₃), 42.2 (C-4), 37.0 (C-3), 31.8 (C-4*), 24.1 C-5*); * refers to the numbering of cyclopentenyl ring.

HRMS (ESI): m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $[C_{16}H_{18}O_5]^+$: 291.1188; found: 291.1228.

Methyl (Z)-4-{3-Oxo-2-[(trimethylsilyl)oxy]cyclopent-1-en-1-yl}-4-phenyl-2-[(trimethylsilyl)oxy]but-2-enoate (9)

According to a modified literature procedure,³⁵ hexahydrocyclopenta[*b*]pyran-2-carboxylate **3a-Me** (50 mg, 0.17 mmol) was dissolved in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL). Et₃N (45 mg, 0.53 mmol) and TMSOTF (118 mg, 0.53 mmol) were added, respectively, to the mixture at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred at r.t. until the end of reaction (TLC monitoring, eluent: CH₂Cl₂–EtOAc, 10:1). The reaction was quenched with sat. aq NaHCO₃ (5 mL) and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 × 5 mL). The organic phases were combined and dried (Na₂SO₄). CH₂Cl₂ was evaporated and the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂–EtOAc 40:1) to give **9** as a transparent oil; yield: 53 mg (71%); colorless oil; $[\alpha]_0^{25}$ –12.3 (c 0.04, MeOH); 93% ee [determined by HPLC: Chiralpak OD-H; hexane-*i*-PrOH (99:1), 1 mL/min, 254 nm; *t*_R (major) = 5.3 min, *t*_R (minor) = 5.7 min].

IR (film): 2956, 1728, 1712, 1643, 1494, 1439, 1498, 1252, 1139, 1112, 872, 849, 758, 701 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.34–7.19 (m, 5 H), 6.50 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1 H), 5.12 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.78 (s, 3 H), 2.53–2.44 (m, 1 H), 2.39–2.29 (m, 3 H), 0.25–0.23 (m, 9 H), 0.18–0.15 (m, 9 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl_3): δ = 203.4, 165.2, 153.0, 149.2, 141.3, 140.9, 128.9, 127.7, 127.0, 120.2, 52.2, 41.2, 32.2, 23.0, 1.2, 0.7.

HRMS (ESI): $m/z \ [M + H]^+$ calcd for $[C_{22}H_{32}O_5Si_2]^+$: 433.1822; found: 433.1855.

Acknowledgment

The authors thank the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (Grants No. IUT 19-32, IUT 19-9 and IUT 23-7) and EU European Regional Development Fund (3.2.0101.08-0017) for financial support.

Supporting Information

Supporting information for this article is available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1560347.

References

 (1) (a) Rueping, M.; Merino, E.; Sugiono, E. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2008, 350, 2127. (b) Rueping, M.; Sugiono, E.; Merino, E. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 6329. (c) Franke, P. T.; Richter, B.; Jørgensen, K. A. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 6317.

Syn thesis

G. Preegel et al.

- (2) (a) Krishnakumar, V.; Mandal, B. K.; Khan, F.-R. N.; Jeong, E. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2014, 55, 3717. (b) Ren, Q.; Sun, S.; Huang, J.; Li, W.; Wu, M.; Guo, H.; Wang, J. Chem. Commun. 2014, 50, 6137. (c) Rao, L. C.; Meshram, H. M.; Kumar, N. S.; Rao, N. N.; Babu, N. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2014, 55, 1127.
- (3) Nair, D. K.; Menna-Barreto, R. F. S.; Silva Junior, E. N.; Mobin, S. M.; Namboothiri, N. N. Chem. Commun. 2014, 50, 6973.
- (4) Urbanietz, G.; Atodiresei, I.; Enders, D. Synthesis 2014, 46, 1261.
- (5) Moghaddam, F. M.; Mirjafary, Z.; Javan, M. J.; Motamen, S.; Saeidian, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2014, 55, 2908.
- (6) Zhao, B.-L.; Du, D.-M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2014, 25, 310.
- (7) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Tato, F.; Bats, J. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 3699.
- (8) (a) Rueping, M.; Kuenkel, A.; Fröhlich, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2010, 16, 4173. (b) Ding, D.; Zhao, C.-G.; Guo, Q.; Arman, H. Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 4423. (c) Li, W.; Liu, X.; Mao, Z.; Chen, Q.; Wang, R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 4767.
- (9) Ren, Q.; Gao, Y.; Wang, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 5297.
- (10) (a) Lee, J. H.; Kim, D. Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2013, 34, 1619.
 (b) Song, X.; Liu, J.; Liu, M.-M.; Wang, X.; Zhang, Z.-F.; Wang, M.-C.; Chang, J. Tetrahedron 2014, 70, 5468. (c) Wang, Y.-F.; Wang, K.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, B.-B.; Zhang, C.-X.; Xu, D.-Q. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 3691. (d) Chen, X.-K.; Zheng, C.-W.; Zhao, S.-L.; Chai, Z.; Yang, Y.-Q.; Zhao, G.; Cao, W.-G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2010, 352, 1648.
- (11) Preegel, G.; Noole, A.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. *Synthesis* **2014**, *46*, 2595.
- (12) Reile, I.; Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2012, 53, 1476.
- (13) Desimoni, G.; Faita, G.; Quadrelli, P. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 5924. (14) Zhang, Y.; Liu, X.; Zhao, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhou, L.; Lin, L.; Feng, X.
- Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 11311. (15) Suh, C. W.; Han, T. H.; Kim, D. Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2013,
- 34, 1623.
- (16) (a) Shen, J.; Liu, D.; An, Q.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, W. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2012, 354, 3311. (b) Shen, J.; An, Q.; Liu, D.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, W. Chin. J. Chem. 2012, 30, 2681.
- (17) Lin, N.; Deng, Y.-Q.; Zhang, Z.-W.; Wang, Q.; Lu, G. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2014**, *25*, 650.
- (18) Sinha, D.; Perera, S.; Zhao, J. C.-G. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 6976.
- (19) Lv, J.; Zhong, X.; Cheng, J.-P.; Luo, S. Acta Chim. Sinica **2012**, 70, 1518.

(20) Murugan, K.; Srimurugan, S.; Chen, C. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 1127.

Paper

- (21) Janka, M.; He, W.; Haedicke, I. E.; Fronczek, F. R.; Frontier, A. J.; Eisenberg, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 5312.
- (22) (a) Ghosh, A. K. Patent WO2012/092168, **2012**. (b) Ghosh, A. K.; Chapsal, B. D.; Mitsuya, D. Patent US2013/0289067, **2013**.
- (23) (a) Chauhan, P.; Mahajan, S.; Kaya, U.; Hack, D.; Enders, D. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2015, 357, 253. (b) Li, Y.; Li, X.; Cheng, J.-P. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2014, 356, 1172. (c) Diaz-de-Villegas, M. D.; Galvez, J. A.; Badorrey, R.; Lopez-Ram-de-Viu, P. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2014, 356, 3261.
- (24) (a) M. Öki further refined the definition of atropisomers taking into account the temperature-dependence associated with the interconversion of conformers, specifying that atropisomers interconvert with a half-life of at least 1000 seconds at a given temperature, corresponding to an energy barrier of 93 kJ mol⁻¹ (22 kcal mol⁻¹) at 300 K (27 °C). (b) Oki, M. *Recent Advances in Atropisomerism, In Topics in Stereochemistry*; Vol. 14; Allinger, N. L.; Eliel, E. L; Wilen, S. H., Eds.; Wiley: Hoboken, **1983**, 1–82.
- (25) Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J.; Roussel, C.; Vanthuyne, N.; Piras, P. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 2012, 105, 1.
- (26) Thompson, M. ArgusLab 4.0.1 2004.
- (27) (a) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lindmaa, R.; Müürisepp, A.-M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 1565. (b) Paju, A.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Eek, M.; Lopp, M. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 9081.
- (28) Wrobel, J.; Cook, J. M. Synth. Commun. 1980, 10, 333.
- (29) Belmessieri, D.; Morrill, L. C.; Simal, C.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Smith, A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 2714.
- (30) Feng, J.; Fu, X.; Chen, Z.; Lin, L.; Liu, X.; Feng, X. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 2640.
- (31) Vakulya, B.; Varga, S.; Csámpai, A.; Soós, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1967.
- (32) Tomotaka, O.; Hoashi, Y.; Takemoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 12672.
- (33) Lee, J. W.; Ryu, T. H.; Oh, J. S.; Bae, H. Y.; Jang, H. B.; Song, C. E. Chem. Commun. 2009, 7224.
- (34) D'Oyley, J. M.; Aliev, A. E.; Sheppard, T. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2014**, 53, 10747.
- (35) Yamashita, D.; Murata, Y.; Hikage, N.; Takao, K.; Nakazaki, A.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 1404.

Reprinted with permission from John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

PUBLICATION III

Mose, R.; Jensen, M.E.; Preegel, G.; Jørgensen, K.A. Direct Access to Multifunctionalized Norcamphor Scaffolds by Asymmetric Organocatalytic Diels-Alder Reactions *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2015**, 54, 13630 – 13634.

Organocatalysis

Direct Access to Multifunctionalized Norcamphor Scaffolds by Asymmetric Organocatalytic Diels–Alder Reactions

Rasmus Mose, Magnus E. Jensen, Gert Preegel, and Karl Anker Jørgensen*

Abstract: A general organocatalytic cross-dienamine activation strategy to produce chiral multifunctionalized norcamphor compounds having a large diversity in substitution pattern is presented. The strategy is based on a Diels–Alder reaction of an amino-activated cyclopentenone reacting with most common classes of electron-deficient olefins, such as nitro-, ester-, amide-, and cyano-substituted olefins, chalcones, conjugated malononitriles, CF_3 -substituted enones, and fumarates. The corresponding norcamphor derivatives are formed in good yield, excellent enantioselectivities, and with complete diastereoselectivity. Furthermore, it is demonstrated that quaternary stereocenters and spiro norcamphor compounds can be formed with high stereoselectivity. The present development provides a simple, direct, and efficient approach for the preparation of important norcamphor scaffolds.

The Diels–Alder reaction is one of the most important synthetic transformations known and it provides easy access to six-membered carbo- and heterocycles in a chemo-, regio-, and stereoselective manner.^[1] Considerable effort has been devoted to the development of catalytic asymmetric versions of this reaction, with most examples focusing on a LUMO-lowering strategy through activation of electron-deficient dienophiles with chiral Lewis acids.^[2] The HOMO-activation strategy is mainly dominated by organocatalytic approaches focused on enamine-,^[3] dienamine-,^[4] and trienamine^[5] activation of alkyl- and vinyl aldehydes and ketones with chiral aminocatalysts.

The bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane scaffold is an important molecular entity and a Reaxys substructure search on this scaffold returned more than 100000 hits, of which more than 15000 compounds have shown bioactivity.^[6] A vast number of bioactive compounds have been applied within all areas of the life sciences and a few examples are shown in Figure 1. Sordarins, a new class of selective antifungal agents, and camphor are natural products containing the bicyclo-[2.2.1]heptane scaffold.^[7] Numerous synthetic drugs and drug candidates have been created based on the bicyclo-[2.2.1]heptane scaffold. Both Setrobuvir and LMV-601 are antiviral agents displaying activity against hepatitis C and HPV respectively.^[8] The library of uncompetitive *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonists are potential new drugs as this receptor has been targeted for the treatment of



Figure 1. A few selected bioactive compounds containing the bicyclo-[2.2.1]heptane scaffold.

Alzheimer's disease, but is also implicated in a range of other neurological and neuropsychiatric diseases.^[9] AMG 221, an inhibitor of 11 β -HSD1, has entered clinical trials for the treatment of type II diabetes, while the ALR1/ALR2 inhibitors also show promising in vivo antidiabetic activity.^[10]

We envisioned that organocatalysis could be used to develop a simple, direct, and efficient approach for the preparation of this very important molecular scaffold, providing a method that was diversity oriented, both in terms of substrates and substituents. Diels–Alder reactions of linear dienamines yield allylic amines, which cannot undergo hydrolysis. Thus, to achieve catalytic turnover, the aminocatalyst needs to be excluded in another manner (for example by E1cB elimination).^[4a] A more direct strategy for the Diels–Alder reaction can be achieved by applying cross-dienamines which directly results in hydrolyzable enamines and thus catalytic turnover.^[11]

Surprisingly, organocatalytic cross-dienamine-activated Diels–Alder reactions of cyclopentenones have been almost completely ignored, whereas numerous examples have been reported on the reactions of open-chain vinyl ketones,^[12] cyclohexenones,^[124,13] and cycloheptenones.^[13b-g] In fact, only three papers have been published, each containing a single entry, on the Diels–Alder reaction of cyclopentenone with for example, electron-deficient polyenes (with modest results),^[13f-b] whereas several papers report unsuccessful attempts.^[13a-c] This stands in stark contrast to the importance of the bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane scaffold.

Herein, we will present the asymmetric aminocatalytic reaction of cyclopentenone with a variety of different dienophiles and investigate its versatility towards the diversification of privileged structures (Scheme 1).

Initially, we focused our attention on the development of the Diels-Alder reaction between cyclopentenone 2 and nitrostyrene 3a. The reaction was found to proceed in the

^[*] R. Mose, M. E. Jensen, G. Preegel, Dr. K. A. Jørgensen Department of Chemistry, Aarhus University 8000 Aarhus C (Denmark) E-mail: kaj@chem.au.dk

Supporting information for this article is available on the WWW under http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/anie.201507348.





Scheme 1. Aminocatalytic Diels–Alder reactions providing multifunctionalized norcamphor scaffolds.

presence of catalyst **1a**, but the desired product **4a** was only formed in 9% yield as a nearly racemic mixture (5% *ee*; Table 1, entry 1). It was observed that the conversion was much higher than the corresponding yield, which was ascribed to a polymerization of **3a**. Improved yield (26%) and enantioselectivity (28% *ee*) were obtained when primary aminocatalyst **1b** was employed (Table 1, entry 2). In an attempt to improve yield and enantiocontrol, the bifunctionalized catalyst **1c**, derived from **1b**, was employed. However, only the racemate of **4a** was obtained in a very low yield (entry 3). The quinine-based catalyst **1d**^[14] was found to be superior to all other catalysts applied, producing **4a** in good

Table 1: Screening of the reaction conditions for the Diels–Alder reaction of cyclopentenone 2 and nitrostyrene 3 a.



[a] Reactions were performed with 2 (0.2 mmol), 3a (0.1 mmol), 1 (0.02 mmol), and additive (0.02 mmol) in solvent (0.1 mL). [b] 2 (0.15 mmol) and 30 h reaction time. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture with 1,3,5-tris(trifluoromethyl)benzene as the internal standard. [d] Determined by ultraperformance convergence chromatography (UPC²) on a chiral stationary phase. [e] 4a was isolated in 62% yield after flash column chromatography on silica gel. [f] Negative *ev* values indicate that the opposite enantiomer of 4a was formed preferentially. *p*-NBA=*p*-nitrobenzoic acid, SA=salicylic acid, TFA=trifluoroacetic acid. yield (49%) and high enantioselectivity (83% *ee*; entry 4). A solvent screening revealed that enantiocontrol could be enhanced in toluene (90% *ee*) while maintaining the same yield as in CDCl₃ (entries 4–7). Several additives were evaluated and found only to have minor influences on the enantioselectivity of the reaction (87–91% *ee*; Table 1, entries 8–12). The reaction performed best in weakly acidic mediums, whereas bases or stronger acids reduced the yield of **4a** (entries 8, 11, 12). Finally, the yield could be improved by increasing the reaction time to 30 h (entry 14).

To evaluate the generality of the reaction, a series of nitrostyrenes 3 were subjected to the reaction with cyclopentenone 2 (Table 2). Both electron-donating and electron-

Table 2: Scope of the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopentenone 2 with nitrostyrenes 3.

	0 +	1d (2 EtCO ₂ H	0 mol%) (20 mol%)	R	0
ſ	R	Toluer	ne, 40 °C	NO ₂	
	2 3			4	
Entry ^[a]	R	Product	Yie l d [%] ^[b]	d.r. ^[c]	ee [%] ^[d]
1	Ph	4a	62	>20:1	90
2	<i>p</i> -Me(C ₆ H₄)	4 b	50	>20:1	90
3	p-F(C ₆ H ₄)	4 c	56	>20:1	89
4	p-Br(C ₆ H ₄)	4 d	56	>20:1	92
5	o-CI(C ₆ H ₄)	4e	81	>20:1	95
6	<i>o</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	4 f	79	>20:1	95
7	m-MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	4 g	48	>20:1	90
8	p-MeO(C ₆ H ₄)	4 h	48	>20:1	86
9	2-naphthyl	4i	49	> 20:1	89
10	2-fury	4 j	59	>20:1	84
11	PhCH=CH	4 k	41	9:1	87

[a] Reactions were performed with 2 (0.15 mmol), 3 (0.1 mmol), 1d
 (0.02 mmol), and propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in toluene (0.1 mL).
 [b] Yield of isolated product. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture. [d] Determined by UPC² on a chiral stationary phase.

withdrawing substituents on the aromatic system were welltolerated (entries 2–8), whereas aliphatic nitroolefins or very electron-poor nitro-substituted nitrostyrenes primarily lead to polymerization of the nitroolefin.^[15] Nitrostyrenes **3f–h**, with a methoxy group placed in each position on the aromatic ring, were evaluated (entries 6–8). Both yields and enantioselectivities followed the order *ortho* > *meta* > *para* and **4f–h** could be obtained in 48–79 % yield and 86–95 % *ee*. This trend was also apparent for the halide-substituted nitrostyrenes **3c– e** (entries 3–5). Polyaromatic, as well as heteroaromatic moieties, could be implemented in the products **4i** and **4j** in good yields and with high enantioselectivities (entries 9, 10). In a final reaction, the less reactive nitrodiene **3k** was reacted with **2** and product **4k** was obtained with 87% *ee*, but in a lower yield relative to the other entries (entry 11).

During the study of the scope of nitrostyrenes 3, we realized that chalcones 5 also readily underwent a Diels-Alder reaction with cyclopentenone 2 under identical reaction conditions. This type of cross-enone reaction has previously been deemed difficult as a result of self-condensation of the starting materials.^[12a,16] Generally, chalcones 5

were found to be slightly less reactive than **3**, but also more stable towards polymerization. As a result, most reactions were performed at higher temperatures. Thus, it turned out that the present catalytic method could be expanded to also include chalcones providing access to new classes of differently substituted norcamphor compounds.

In the first experiment, chalcone 5a was reacted with cyclopentenone 2. The desired cycloadduct 6a was obtained in 79% yield and 93% *ee* (Table 3, entry 1). Both weakly and strongly electron-withdrawing groups were well-tolerated on

Table 3: Scope of the Diels-Alder reaction of cyclopentenone 2 with chalcones 5.

	$rac{0}{R^2}$	1d (20 r EtCO ₂ H (2	mol%) !0 mol%)		R1	.0
ľ		Toluene	, 18 h	F	220	
2	5				6	
Entry ^[a]	R^1/R^2	Product	Т	Yield	d.r. ^[c]	ee
			[°C]	[%] ^[b]		[%] ^[d]
1	Ph/Ph	6a	60	79	>20:1	93
2	p-Br(C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	6 b	60	66	>20:1	96
3	$m-NO_2(C_6H_4)/Ph$	6c	40	63	>20:1	96
4	<i>p</i> -NO ₂ (C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	6 d	40	52	>20:1	99
5	o-MeO(C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	6e	60	75	>20:1	99
6	<i>m</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	6 f	80	52	>20:1	96
7	<i>p</i> -MeO(C ₆ H ₄)/Ph	6 g	100	38	>20:1	87
8	2-furyl/Ph	6h	80	62	>20:1	87
9	2-thiophenyl/Ph	6 i	80	58	>20:1	91
10	2-naphthyl/Ph	6 j	80	47	>20:1	91
11	$Ph/p-NO_2(C_6H_4)$	6 k	60	85	>20:1	96
12	p-Br(C ₆ H ₄)/ p -NO ₂ -	6	40	91	>20:1	99
	(C ₆ H ₄)					
13 ^[e]	Me/Ph	6 m	40	32	>20:1	91
14 ^[f]	Ph/Me	6 n	60	19	>20:1	92

[a] Reactions were performed with 2 (0.2 mmol), 5 (0.1 mmol), 1d (0.02 mmol), and propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in toluene (0.1 mL).
[b] Yield of isolated product. [c] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture. [d] Determined by UPC² on a chiral stationary phase. [e] Reaction time 50 h. [f] Reaction time 72 h.

the aromatic rings (entries 2-4, 11, 12). The nitro-substituted chalcones 5c,d having the nitro group in the meta and para positions readily underwent reactions with 2 to form products 6c and 6d in good yields and with almost perfect enantioselectivities (entries 3, 4).^[17] Electron-donating groups in ortho, meta, and para positions were also evaluated and, as for the nitrostyrenes 3 f-h, both yields and enantioselectivities followed the order *ortho* > *meta* > *para* for **5e–g** (entries 5–7). It should be noted that a temperature of 100°C was necessary for the reaction with 5g. Although the product could only be obtained in a low yield (38%), it still performed well in terms of enantioselectivity (87% ee) considering the high reaction temperature. Polyaromatic and heteroaromatic moieties could also be incorporated in the products 6h-j in 47-62% yields and 87-91% ee (entries 8-10). Additionally, it was demonstrated that substituents on the other aromatic ring (\mathbf{R}^2) could also be present when using chalcone compounds 5k and 5l, giving the desired products 6k and 6l in 85–91% yields and 96-99% ee (entry 11, 12). With aliphatic groups in

either the R^1 or R^2 position, vinyl ketones **5m** and **5n** underwent the reaction with excellent stereoselectivities (>20:1 d.r., 91–92% *ee*), albeit in low yield (19–32%).It should be noted that the reaction of enone **5n** may pose a potential challenge, as two cross-dienamines are possible. However, only one product **6n** was formed in the reaction.

A recent paper by Houk and Lam described the mechanistic aspects of an organocatalytic intramolecular aldol reaction catalyzed by cinchona alkaloid primary amines.^[18] Based on the reaction mechanism proposed by the authors, we suggest a related transition state for this intermolecular aminocatalyzed Diels–Alder reaction (Scheme 2). Initially,



Scheme 2. Proposed reaction pathway for the aminocatalyzed cycloaddition reaction.

the cinchona alkaloid aminocatalyst condenses with cyclopentenone to form a cross-dienamine intermediate. By protonation of the quinuclidine part of the catalyst, the dienophile is activated and directed into the appropriate position by hydrogen bonding. After the cycloaddition step, the formed enamine is hydrolyzed to the corresponding ketone while liberating the aminocatalyst. Based on the diastereoselectivity obtained, we propose that the reaction might proceed via an asynchronous concerted cycloaddition, as more than 20:1 d.r. is obtained for all products except two (Table 2, entry 11 and Table 4, compound **8b** (see below)). However, we cannot exclude that a stepwise mechanism

 $\textit{Table 4: } Scope of the Diels–Alder reaction of cyclopentenone 2 with dienophiles <math display="inline">\textbf{7}.^{[a]}$



[a] Reactions were performed with 2 (0.2 mmol), 3 (0.1 mmol), 1d (0.02 mmol), and propionic acid (0.02 mmol) in toluene (0.1 mL). In each case, the yield given is that of the isolated product. The d.r. values were determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the crude reaction mixture, and ee values were determined by UPC² on a chiral stationary phase.

might also be operating for some dienophiles, such as those in which the reacting olefin is in conjugation with another olefin.

Normally, bifunctionalized catalysts are sensitive towards small variations of the hydrogen-bond acceptor groups of the electrophiles and extensive screenings need to be performed for each electrophile applied. Since the present reaction performed well for both nitrostyrenes and chalcones under identical reaction conditions, we were curious to see how well the reaction would perform towards different types of dienophiles. It turned out that the organocatalytically activated cyclopentenone shows unique general reactivity, as it reacts with most common classes of electron-deficient olefins. Furthermore, it allows for the formation of quaternary stereocenters and spirocyclic compounds. Table 4 shows an example of each of these reactions, without outlining all of the different substituent patterns as shown for the nitroolefins (Table 2) and chalcones (Table 3), and shows that varying the substituents does not change the diastereoselectivity of the reaction significantly. The following reactions were performed without further optimization of the reaction conditions used for the nitroolefins and chalcones.

Although the reaction with malononitrile 7a only produced the cvcloadduct 8a in moderate enantioselectivity (42% ee), the reaction with the polyconjugated malononitrile 7b afforded 8b in good vield and high enantioselectivity (62% yield, 83% ee). Pleasingly, the CF₃-substituted enone 7c readily underwent the cycloaddition to produce 8c in 71% vield and almost perfect enantioselectivity (98% ee). The cycloadduct 8d (from reaction of *trans*-dimethyl fumarate) could easily be generated in high yield but with modest enantiomeric excess. It was also demonstrated that quaternary stereocenters could be incorporated into the bicyclo-[2.2.1]heptane scaffold by reaction of cyclopentenone 2 with cyanoacrylate 7e or cyanoacrylamide 7f to produce the desired cycloadducts 8e and 8f in high yield and enantioselectivities (79-84% yield, 80-87% ee). Finally, the spiro norcamphor 8g could also be obtained with high enantiomeric excess, albeit in low yield under these nonoptimized reaction conditions. The examples in Table 4 highlight the generality of the catalytic system, since different types of dienophiles 7 can be applied under identical conditions as for nitrostyrenes 3 and chalcones 5.

A few selected transformations were performed on **4a** to demonstrate the synthetic potential of the substituted norcamphor products. First, a Baeyer–Villiger oxidation led to the lactone **9** which could be ring-opened under acidic conditions to provide the highly substituted cyclopentane **10** containing four contiguous stereocenters (Scheme 3, top). Many bioactive products contain an amine moiety attached to the bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane scaffold (Figure 1). Therefore, we demonstrated a diastereoselective reductive amination of **4a** to form compound **11**, containing an additional stereocenter, in good yield (59%; Scheme 3, bottom).

The absolute configurations of compounds **61** and **11** were unambiguously determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction and the configurations of all remaining products were assigned by analogy.^[19]

In conclusion, we have demonstrated a straightforward procedure for the generation of a variety of 5,6-substituted



Scheme 3. Synthetic transformations of cycloadduct **4a**. mCPBA = *meta*-chloroperbenzoic acid.

norcamphor derivatives by means of an asymmetric organocatalytic reaction. Remarkably, the reaction conditions turned out to be very general allowing most common electron-deficient olefins to be applied in the cycloaddition without further optimizations. The norcamphor scaffolds are obtained in generally good to high yields and high to excellent stereoselectivities, providing a simple and efficient process for the preparation of an important class of privileged structures. Additionally, a few selected transformations were demonstrated to show that an additional stereocenter could be introduced by a diastereoselective reductive amination and that the norcamphor products could undergo an oxidative ring-opening reaction to generate highly substituted cyclopentanes.

Acknowledgements

This work was made possible by grants from Aarhus University and the Carlsberg Foundation. This research was supported by the Doctoral Studies and Internationalisation Programme (DoRa) from the European Social Fund, which is carried out by the Foundation Archimedes. We also thank Line Næsborg and Vibeke Lauritsen for X-ray analysis.

Keywords: asymmetric catalysis · cross-dienamines · Diels-Alder reactions · norcamphor · organocatalysis

How to cite: Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 13630–13634 Angew. Chem. 2015, 127, 13834–13838

- For examples, see: a) K. C. Nicolaou, S. A. Snyder, T. Montagnon, G. Vassilikogiannakis, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1668; Angew. Chem. 2002, 114, 1742; b) J.-A. Funel, S. Abele, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 3822; Angew. Chem. 2013, 125, 3912; c) S. Kotha, A. S. Chavan, D. Goyal, ACS Comb. Sci. 2015, 17, 253.
- [2] H. B. Kagan, O. Riant, Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007.
- [3] For examples, see: a) K. Juhl, K. A. Jørgensen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1498; Angew. Chem. 2003, 115, 1536; b) T. C.
 Wabnitz, S. Saaby, K. A. Jørgensen, Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 828; c) B. Han, J.-L. Li, C. Ma, S.-J. Zhang, Y.-C. Chen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 9971; Angew. Chem. 2008, 120, 10119.
- [4] For examples, see: a) S. Bertelsen, M. Marigo, S. Brandes, P. Dinér, K. A. Jørgensen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 12973;
 b) R. M. de Figueiredo, R. Fröhlich, M. Christmann, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1450; Angew. Chem. 2008, 120, 1472;

© 2015 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim



c) K. S. Halskov, B. S. Donslund, S. Barfüsser, K. A. Jørgensen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 4137; Angew. Chem. 2014, 126, 4221; d) E. P. Serebryakov, A. G. Nigmatov, M. A. Shcherbakov, M. I. Struchkova, Russ. Chem. Bull. 1998, 47, 82; For a review, see, for example: e) D. B. Ramachary, Y. V. Reddy, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 865.

- [5] For examples, see: a) Z.-J. Jia, H. Jiang, J.-L. Li, B. Gschwend, Q.-Z. Li, X. Yin, J. Grouleff, Y.-C. Chen, K. A. Jørgensen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 5053; b) K. S. Halskov, T. K. Johansen, R. L. Davis, M. Steurer, F. Jensen, K. A. Jørgensen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 12943; c) X.-F. Xiong, Q. Zhou, J. Gu, L. Dong, T.-Y. Liu, Y.-C. Chen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 4401; Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 4477.
- [6] The search was performed on 28/07/2015 at http://www.reaxys. com.
- [7] For examples, see: a) F. C. Odds, *Exp. Opin. Ther. Patents* 2001, 11, 283; b) H. Liang, *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.* 2008, 4, 31.
- [8] For examples, see: a) F. Ruebsam, D. E. Murphy, C. V. Tran, L.-S. Li, J. Zhao, P. S. Dragovich, H. M. McGuire, A. X. Xiang, Z. Sun, B. K. Ayida, et al., *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2009, *19*, 6404; b) R. M. Adibhatla, J. F. Hatcher, A. Gusain, *Neurochem. Res.* 2012, *37*, 671.
- [9] For examples, see: a) Z. Ates-Alagoz, S. Sun, J. Wallach, A. Adejare, *Chem. Biol. Drug Des.* 2011, 78, 25; b) N. Coleman, Z. Ates-Alagoz, B. Gaye, M. Farbaniec, S. Sun, A. Adejare, *Pharmaceuticals* 2013, 6, 536; c) H.-S. V. Chen, S. A. Lipton, J. Neurochem. 2006, 97, 1611.
- [10] For examples, see: a) A. Li, C. C. Yuan, D. Chow, M. Chen, M. G. Emery, C. Hale, X. Zhang, R. Subramanian, D. J. St Jean, R. Komorowski, M. Véniant, M. Wang, C. Fotsch, ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 2011, 2, 824; b) Z. Iqbal, S. Ali, J. Iqbal, Q. Abbas, I. Z. Qureshi, S. Hameed, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2013, 23, 488.
- [11] R. Thayumanavan, B. Dhevalapally, K. Sakthivel, F. Tanaka, C. F. Barbas, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3817.
- [12] For examples, see: a) H. Huang, W. Wu, K. Zhu, J. Hu, J. Ye, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2013**, *19*, 3838; b) W. Wu, H. Huang, X. Yuan, K. Zhu, J. Ye, *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 9180; c) L.-Y. Wu, G. Bencivenni, M. Mancinelli, A. Mazzanti, G. Bartoli, P. Melchiorre, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 7196; *Angew. Chem.* **2009**, *121*, 7332; d) G. Bencivenni, L.-Y. Wu, A. Mazzanti, B. Giannichi, F. Pesciaioli, M.-P. Song, G. Bartoli, P. Melchiorre,

Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 7200; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 7336.

- [13] a) H. Yang, R. G. Carter, J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 5151; b) H. Sundén, I. Ibrahem, L. Eriksson, A. Córdova, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4877; Angew. Chem. 2005, 117, 4955; c) X. Zheng, Y. Qian, Y. Wang, Catal. Commun. 2010, 11, 567; d) Y. Yamamoto, N. Momiyama, H. Yamamoto, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5962; e) N. Momiyama, Y. Yamamoto, H. Yamamoto, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 1190; f) X. Feng, Z. Zhou, R. Zhou, Q.-Q. Zhou, L. Dong, Y.-C. Chen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 19942; g) H. Sundén, R. Rios, Y. Xu, L. Eriksson, A. Córdova, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2007, 349, 2549; h) A.-B. Xia, D.-Q. Xu, C. Wu, L. Zhao, Z.-Y. Xu, Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 1055; i) P.J. Coleman, J. D. Schreier, A. J. Roecker, S. P. Mercer, G. B. McGaughey, C. D. Cox, G. D. Hartman, C. M. Harrell, D. R. Reiss, S. M. Doran, S. L. Garson, W. B. Anderson, C. Tang, T. Prueksaritanont, C. J. Winrow, J. J. Renger, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2010, 20, 4201; j) D.-Q. Xu, A.-B. Xia, S.-P. Luo, J. Tang, S. Zhang, J.-R. Jiang, Z.-Y. Xu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 3821; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 3879.
- [14] a) J.-W. Xie, W. Chen, R. Li, M. Zeng, W. Du, L. Yue, Y.-C. Chen, Y. Wu, J. Zhu, J.-G. Deng, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 389; Angew. Chem. 2007, 119, 393; b) S. H. McCooey, S. J. Connon, Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 599; c) W. Chen, W. Du, L. Yue, R. Li, Y. Wu, L.-S. Ding, Y.-C. Chen, Org. Biomol. Chem. 2007, 5, 816; d) G. Bartoli, M. Bosco, A. Carlone, F. Pesciaioli, L. Sambri, P. Melchiorre, Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1403.
- [15] Products of *ortho-, meta-*, or *para-*nitro-substituted nitrostyrenes as well as aliphatic nitroolefines could be obtained in excellent d.r. values and enantioselectivities, however, only in very low yield (<15% yield).</p>
- [16] D. B. Ramachary, N. S. Chowdari, C. F. Barbas, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 6743.
- [17] We were not able to prepare the *ortho*-substituted nitro chalcone starting material. Hence, it was not tested in the reaction.
- [18] Y.-H. Lam, K. N. Houk, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2116.
- [19] See the Supporting Information for details.

Received: August 7, 2015 Revised: September 11, 2015 Published online: October 12, 2015

ABSTRACT

In the present work, an investigation of asymmetric organocatalytic reactions of cyclopent-2-en-1-one (Diels-Alder reaction) and cyclopentane-1,2-dione (Michael reaction) with electron-deficient olefins has been carried out.

It was found that the activation of cyclopentane-1,2-dione and nitro-olefins by bifunctional thiourea organocatalysts can result in a Michael reaction product of 3-substituted diketones in a high yield (up to 90%) and good enantioselectivity (up to 76% *ee*). In further derivatization, bioactive compounds can be obtained.

By changing nitro-olefins to unsaturated ketoesters, in the presence of organocatalysts a reaction still occurs with additional cyclization, resulting in heterobicyclic hemiacetals in excellent yield (up to 93%) and stereoselectivity (dr > 20:1; up to 96% *ee*). With further derivatization, bioactive compounds are obtained.

It has also been shown that multifunctionalized bioactive norcamphor scaffolds are synthesized through an asymmetric organocatalytic Diels-Alder reaction between cyclopent-2-en-1-one and the most common classes of electron-deficient olefins. For this, a Cinchona alkaloid primary amine derivate was used as a catalyst.

KOKKUVÕTE

Käesolevas töös uuriti tsüklopent-2-een-1-ooni ja tsüklopentaan-1,2-diooni asümmeetrilisi organokatalüütilisi reaktsioone (esimesel juhul Diels-Alderi reaktsiooni ja teisel juhul Michael reaktsiooni) elektronvaeste olefiinidega.

Uurimuse tulemusel leidsime, et aktiveerides tsüklopentaan-1,2-diooni ning nitroalkeene bifunktsionaalsete tiouurea-organokatalüsaatoriga saame Michaeli reaktsiooni produktideks kõrge saagise (kuni 90%) ning hea enantioselektiivsusega (kuni 76% *ee*) 3-asendatud 2-hüdroksütsüklopent-2-en-1-ooni derivaate, mida on võimalik edasi muundada bioaktiivseteks molekulideks.

Vahetades nitroalkeenid küllastamata ketoestrite vastu, saame tulemuseks kaskaadreaktsiooni Michaeli reaktsioon – tsükliseerumine, mille tulemusena saame suurepärase saagise (kuni 93%) ja stereoselektiivusega (dr > 20:1; kuni 96% *ee*) heterobitsüklilised poolatsetaalid, milledest on samuti võimalik edasiste muundamiste käigus luua bioaktiivseid ühendeid.

Töötati välja norkampri asendatud derivaatide sünteesi tee tsüklopent-2-een-1ooni ja elektronvaesete alkeenide Diels-Alderi reaktsiooni kaudu. Töös sünteesiti rida bitsüklilisi struktuure, mis võivad olla lähteühenditeks bioaktiiivse ühendite saamiseks. Organokatalüsaatorina kasutati Cinchona alkaloidi primaarse amiini derivaate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was conducted in the Department of Chemistry at the Tallinn University of Technology and the Department of Chemistry at Aarhus University. This work was financially supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (Grants No. IUT 19-32, IUT 19-9 and IUT 23-7) and EU European Regional Development Fund (3.2.0101.08-0017), the graduate school "Functional materials and technologies" funded by European Social Fund project 1.2.0401.09-0079 and the European Social Fund's Doctoral Studies and Internationalisation Programme DoRa, which is run by Foundation Archimedes.

I would like to thank everyone who has been involved in this work and helped me to finish this thesis. I would like to thank my supervisors Prof. Margus Lopp and Dr. Tõnis Pehk for their help and guidance throughout the course of my PhD work. Also I would like to acknowledge all co-workers for the fruitful discussions concerning chemistry and more. I would also like to thank Martin Jakoobi for providing me with all the articles not accessible from the TUT library and for keeping spirits up in the lab.

I would like to thank Karl Anker Jørgensen for giving me an opportunity to join his group and all of group109 for teaching me how to be a Dane (or Italian, Spaniard, Brazilian, German or Chinese). Special thanks to the Bouldering and Food Club for diversifying my time in Denmark. Thank You Rasmus and Magnus for the white port whiteboard meetings!

Thank You Dr. Marko Piirsoo for throwing me into the water, Dr. Indrek Reile for teaching me how to swim and Rasmus Mose for teaching me how to fly.

My deepest gratitude is to my family and friends! Thank You, Karin, for trying to understand what I'm doing when I'm not having fun with you.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

1. Isikuandmed

Nimi	Gert Preegel
Sünniaeg ja -koht	21.12.1985, Tallinn

2. Kontaktandmed

Aadress	Keemiainstituut, TTÜ, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618
Telefon	+3725042657
e-post	gert_preegel@hotmail.com

3. Haridus

Tallinna Tehnikaülikool	2010 <i>MSc</i>
Tallinna Tehnikaülikool	2008 <i>BSc</i>
Tallinna Reaalkool	2005 Keskharidus

4. Teenistuskäik

2011 alates	TTÜ, Kee	emiainstit	uut, inse	ner		
02.2015 - 10.2015	Aarhus	Ülikool,	Taani;	külalisdoktorant	(DoRa	T6)
	(juhenda	aja Karl Ar	nker Jørg	ensen)		
01.2011 - 08.2011	TTÜ, Are	endusosak	ond, teh	noloogiasiirde spe	tsialist	
2009 – 2012	TTÜ, Kee	emiatehni	ka institu	uut, praktikant		

5. Teadusorganisatsiooniline ja -administratiivne tegevus

ige
i

6. Juhendatud lõputöö

2013	Estelle Silm bakalaureuse töö, kaitstud TTÜ-s
2016	Estelle Silm magistri töö, kaitstud TTÜ-s

7. Teadustöö

Uute asümmetriliste meetodite välja töötamine kasutades organokatalüsaatoreid, kõrgemat järku asümmeetrilised tsükkel-liitumised, reaktsiooni mehhanismide uurimine, 1,2-diketoonide süntees ning reaktsioonide uurimine

8. Tunnustused

2007 AS Viru Keemia Grupp stipendium

CURRICULUM VITAE

1. Personal Data

Name	Gert Preegel
Date and place of birth	21.12.1985, Tallinn

2. Contact information

Address	Department of Chemistry, TUT, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618,
	Estonia
Cell phone	+3725042657
E-mail	gert_preegel@hotmail.com

3. Education

Tallinn University of Technology	2010 MSc
Tallinn University of Technology	2008 BSc
Tallinn Secondary Science School	2005 Secondary education

4. Professional appointments

From 2011	TUT, Department of Chemistry, engineer
02.2015 - 10.2015	Aarhus University, Denmark; visiting PhD (DoRa T6) (supervisor Karl Anker Jørgensen)
01.2011 - 08.2011	TUT, Innovation and Business Centre, Technology Transfer Officer
2009–2012	TUT, Department of Chemical Engineering, trainee

5. R&D-related managerial and administrative work

From 2014 American Chemical Society, member

6. Supervised thesis

2013	BSc thesis of Estelle Silm,	defended in TUT
2016	MSc thesis of Estelle Silm,	defended in TUT

7. Scientific work

Development of new asymmetric synthetic methods using organocatalysis, higher order asymmetric cycloadditions, the study of mechanisms, synthesis and derivatization of 1,2-diketones.

8. Awards

2007 AS Viru Keemia Grupp scholarship

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- Preegel, G.; Noole, A.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. "Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopentane-1,2-diones to Nitroolefins" *Synthesis*, 2014, **46**, 2595–2600.
- Preegel, G.; Ilmarinen, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T.; Pehk, T.; Lopp, M. "Enantioselective Organocatalytic Michael Addition-Cyclization Cascade of Cyclopentane-1,2-dione with Substituted (E)-2-oxobut-3-enoates" *Synthesis*, 2015, **47**, 3805–3812.
- Mose, R.; Jensen, M. E.; Preegel, G.; Jørgensen K. A. "Direct Access to Multifunctionaliaed Norcamphor Scaffolds by Asymmetric Organocatalytic Diels-Alder Reactions" *Angew.Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2015, 54, 13630–13634.
- Mose, R.; Preegel, G.; Larsen, J.; Jakobsen, S.; Iversen, E. H.; Jørgensen K.
 A. "Organocatalytic stereoselective [8+2] and [6+4] cycloadditions" *Nature*, 2016, submitted.

DISSERTATIONS DEFENDED AT TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES

1. Olav Kongas. Nonlinear Dynamics in Modeling Cardiac Arrhytmias. 1998.

2. **Kalju Vanatalu**. Optimization of Processes of Microbial Biosynthesis of Isotopically Labeled Biomolecules and Their Complexes. 1999.

3. Ahto Buldas. An Algebraic Approach to the Structure of Graphs. 1999.

4. **Monika Drews**. A Metabolic Study of Insect Cells in Batch and Continuous Culture: Application of Chemostat and Turbidostat to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. 1999.

5. **Eola Valdre**. Endothelial-Specific Regulation of Vessel Formation: Role of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. 2000.

6. Kalju Lott. Doping and Defect Thermodynamic Equilibrium in ZnS. 2000.

7. **Reet Koljak**. Novel Fatty Acid Dioxygenases from the Corals *Plexaura homomalla* and *Gersemia fruticosa*. 2001.

8. **Anne Paju**. Asymmetric oxidation of Prochiral and Racemic Ketones by Using Sharpless Catalyst. 2001.

9. Marko Vendelin. Cardiac Mechanoenergetics in silico. 2001.

10. **Pearu Peterson**. Multi-Soliton Interactions and the Inverse Problem of Wave Crest. 2001.

11. Anne Menert. Microcalorimetry of Anaerobic Digestion. 2001.

12. **Toomas Tiivel**. The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane in *in vivo* Regulation of Respiration in Normal Heart and Skeletal Muscle Cell. 2002.

13. **Olle Hints**. Ordovician Scolecodonts of Estonia and Neighbouring Areas: Taxonomy, Distribution, Palaeoecology, and Application. 2002.

14. Jaak Nõlvak. Chitinozoan Biostratigrapy in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. 2002.

15. Liivi Kluge. On Algebraic Structure of Pre-Operad. 2002.

16. Jaanus Lass. Biosignal Interpretation: Study of Cardiac Arrhytmias and Electromagnetic Field Effects on Human Nervous System. 2002.

17. Janek Peterson. Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Modification of PAMAM Dendrimers. 2002.

18. **Merike Vaher**. Room Temperature Ionic Liquids as Background Electrolyte Additives in Capillary Electrophoresis. 2002.

19. **Valdek Mikli**. Electron Microscopy and Image Analysis Study of Powdered Hardmetal Materials and Optoelectronic Thin Films. 2003.

20. Mart Viljus. The Microstructure and Properties of Fine-Grained Cermets. 2003.

21. **Signe Kask**. Identification and Characterization of Dairy-Related Lactobacillus. 2003.

22. **Tiiu-Mai Laht**. Influence of Microstructure of the Curd on Enzymatic and Microbiological Processes in Swiss-Type Cheese. 2003.

23. Anne Kuusksalu. 2–5A Synthetase in the Marine Sponge Geodia cydonium. 2003.

24. **Sergei Bereznev**. Solar Cells Based on Polycristalline Copper-Indium Chalcogenides and Conductive Polymers. 2003.

25. Kadri Kriis. Asymmetric Synthesis of C_2 -Symmetric Bimorpholines and Their Application as Chiral Ligands in the Transfer Hydrogenation of Aromatic Ketones. 2004.

26. Jekaterina Reut. Polypyrrole Coatings on Conducting and Insulating Substracts. 2004.

27. **Sven Nõmm**. Realization and Identification of Discrete-Time Nonlinear Systems. 2004.

28. **Olga Kijatkina**. Deposition of Copper Indium Disulphide Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2004.

29. Gert Tamberg. On Sampling Operators Defined by Rogosinski, Hann and Blackman Windows. 2004.

30. Monika Übner. Interaction of Humic Substances with Metal Cations. 2004.

31. **Kaarel Adamberg**. Growth Characteristics of Non-Starter Lactic Acid Bacteria from Cheese. 2004.

32. Imre Vallikivi. Lipase-Catalysed Reactions of Prostaglandins. 2004.

33. Merike Peld. Substituted Apatites as Sorbents for Heavy Metals. 2005.

34. **Vitali Syritski**. Study of Synthesis and Redox Switching of Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) by Using *in-situ* Techniques. 2004.

35. Lee Põllumaa. Evaluation of Ecotoxicological Effects Related to Oil Shale Industry. 2004.

36. Riina Aav. Synthesis of 9,11-Secosterols Intermediates. 2005.

37. Andres Braunbrück. Wave Interaction in Weakly Inhomogeneous Materials. 2005.

38. Robert Kitt. Generalised Scale-Invariance in Financial Time Series. 2005.

39. **Juss Pavelson**. Mesoscale Physical Processes and the Related Impact on the Summer Nutrient Fields and Phytoplankton Blooms in the Western Gulf of Finland. 2005.

40. **Olari Ilison**. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Media with Higher Order Dispersive and Nonlinear Effects. 2005.

41. **Maksim Säkki**. Intermittency and Long-Range Structurization of Heart Rate. 2005.

42. Enli Kiipli. Modelling Seawater Chemistry of the East Baltic Basin in the Late Ordovician–Early Silurian. 2005.

43. **Igor Golovtsov**. Modification of Conductive Properties and Processability of Polyparaphenylene, Polypyrrole and polyaniline. 2005.

44. **Katrin Laos**. Interaction Between Furcellaran and the Globular Proteins (Bovine Serum Albumin β -Lactoglobulin). 2005.

45. **Arvo Mere**. Structural and Electrical Properties of Spray Deposited Copper Indium Disulphide Films for Solar Cells. 2006.

46. **Sille Ehala**. Development and Application of Various On- and Off-Line Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Bioactive Compounds. 2006.

47. **Maria Kulp**. Capillary Electrophoretic Monitoring of Biochemical Reaction Kinetics. 2006.

48. **Anu Aaspõllu.** Proteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom Affecting Hemostasis. 2006.

49. **Lyudmila Chekulayeva**. Photosensitized Inactivation of Tumor Cells by Porphyrins and Chlorins. 2006.

50. **Merle Uudsemaa**. Quantum-Chemical Modeling of Solvated First Row Transition Metal Ions. 2006.

51. **Tagli Pitsi**. Nutrition Situation of Pre-School Children in Estonia from 1995 to 2004. 2006.

52. **Angela Ivask**. Luminescent Recombinant Sensor Bacteria for the Analysis of Bioavailable Heavy Metals. 2006.

53. **Tiina Lõugas**. Study on Physico-Chemical Properties and Some Bioactive Compounds of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). 2006.

54. **Kaja Kasemets**. Effect of Changing Environmental Conditions on the Fermentative Growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisae* S288C: Auxo-accelerostat Study. 2006.

55. **Ildar Nisamedtinov**. Application of ¹³C and Fluorescence Labeling in Metabolic Studies of *Saccharomyces* spp. 2006.

56. **Alar Leibak**. On Additive Generalisation of Voronoï's Theory of Perfect Forms over Algebraic Number Fields. 2006.

57. Andri Jagomägi. Photoluminescence of Chalcopyrite Tellurides. 2006.

58. **Tõnu Martma**. Application of Carbon Isotopes to the Study of the Ordovician and Silurian of the Baltic. 2006.

59. **Marit Kauk**. Chemical Composition of CuInSe₂ Monograin Powders for Solar Cell Application. 2006.

60. Julia Kois. Electrochemical Deposition of CulnSe₂ Thin Films for Photovoltaic Applications. 2006.

61. Ilona Oja Açık. Sol-Gel Deposition of Titanium Dioxide Films. 2007.

62. **Tiia Anmann**. Integrated and Organized Cellular Bioenergetic Systems in Heart and Brain. 2007.

63. **Katrin Trummal**. Purification, Characterization and Specificity Studies of Metalloproteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom. 2007.

64. **Gennadi Lessin**. Biochemical Definition of Coastal Zone Using Numerical Modeling and Measurement Data. 2007.

65. **Enno Pais**. Inverse problems to determine non-homogeneous degenerate memory kernels in heat flow. 2007.

66. Maria Borissova. Capillary Electrophoresis on Alkylimidazolium Salts. 2007.

67. **Karin Valmsen**. Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Coral *Plexaura homomalla*: Control of Prostaglandin Stereochemistry at Carbon 15 by Cyclooxygenases. 2007.

68. **Kristjan Piirimäe**. Long-Term Changes of Nutrient Fluxes in the Drainage Basin of the Gulf of Finland – Application of the PolFlow Model. 2007.

69. **Tatjana Dedova**. Chemical Spray Pyrolysis Deposition of Zinc Sulfide Thin Films and Zinc Oxide Nanostructured Layers. 2007.

70. **Katrin Tomson**. Production of Labelled Recombinant Proteins in Fed-Batch Systems in *Escherichia coli*. 2007.

71. Cecilia Sarmiento. Suppressors of RNA Silencing in Plants. 2008.

72. **Vilja Mardla**. Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation with Combination of Antiplatelet Agents. 2008.

73. **Maie Bachmann**. Effect of Modulated Microwave Radiation on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2008.

74. **Dan Hüvonen**. Terahertz Spectroscopy of Low-Dimensional Spin Systems. 2008.

75. Ly Villo. Stereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Deoxy Sugar Esters Involving *Candida antarctica* Lipase B. 2008.

76. Johan Anton. Technology of Integrated Photoelasticity for Residual Stress Measurement in Glass Articles of Axisymmetric Shape. 2008.

77. **Olga Volobujeva**. SEM Study of Selenization of Different Thin Metallic Films. 2008.

78. Artur Jõgi. Synthesis of 4'-Substituted 2,3'-dideoxynucleoside Analogues. 2008.
79. Mario Kadastik. Doubly Charged Higgs Boson Decays and Implications on Neutrino Physics. 2008.

80. **Fernando Pérez-Caballero**. Carbon Aerogels from 5-Methylresorcinol-Formaldehyde Gels. 2008.

81. **Sirje Vaask**. The Comparability, Reproducibility and Validity of Estonian Food Consumption Surveys. 2008.

82. **Anna Menaker**. Electrosynthesized Conducting Polymers, Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), for Molecular Imprinting. 2009.

83. Lauri Ilison. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Hierarchical Korteweg-de Vries Type Systems. 2009.

84. **Kaia Ernits**. Study of In₂S₃ and ZnS Thin Films Deposited by Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis and Chemical Deposition. 2009.

85. **Veljo Sinivee**. Portable Spectrometer for Ionizing Radiation "Gammamapper". 2009.

86. **Jüri Virkepu**. On Lagrange Formalism for Lie Theory and Operadic Harmonic Oscillator in Low Dimensions. 2009.

87. Marko Piirsoo. Deciphering Molecular Basis of Schwann Cell Development. 2009.

88. **Kati Helmja**. Determination of Phenolic Compounds and Their Antioxidative Capability in Plant Extracts. 2010.

89. **Merike Sõmera**. Sobemoviruses: Genomic Organization, Potential for Recombination and Necessity of P1 in Systemic Infection. 2010.

90. **Kristjan Laes**. Preparation and Impedance Spectroscopy of Hybrid Structures Based on Culn₃Se₅ Photoabsorber. 2010.

91. **Kristin Lippur**. Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,2'-Bimorpholine and its 5,5'-Substituted Derivatives. 2010.

92. **Merike Luman**. Dialysis Dose and Nutrition Assessment by an Optical Method. 2010.

93. **Mihhail Berezovski**. Numerical Simulation of Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous and Microstructured Materials. 2010.

94. Tamara Aid-Pavlidis. Structure and Regulation of BDNF Gene. 2010.

95. **Olga Bragina**. The Role of Sonic Hedgehog Pathway in Neuro- and Tumorigenesis. 2010.

96. **Merle Randrüüt**. Wave Propagation in Microstructured Solids: Solitary and Periodic Waves. 2010.

97. **Marju Laars**. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael and Aldol Reactions Mediated by Cyclic Amines. 2010.

98. **Maarja Grossberg**. Optical Properties of Multinary Semiconductor Compounds for Photovoltaic Applications. 2010.

99. **Alla Maloverjan**. Vertebrate Homologues of Drosophila Fused Kinase and Their Role in Sonic Hedgehog Signalling Pathway. 2010.

100. **Priit Pruunsild**. Neuronal Activity-Dependent Transcription Factors and Regulation of Human *BDNF* Gene. 2010.

101. **Tatjana Knjazeva**. New Approaches in Capillary Electrophoresis for Separation and Study of Proteins. 2011.

102. **Atanas Katerski**. Chemical Composition of Sprayed Copper Indium Disulfide Films for Nanostructured Solar Cells. 2011.

103. Kristi Timmo. Formation of Properties of $CuInSe_2$ and $Cu_2ZnSn(S,Se)_4$ Monograin Powders Synthesized in Molten KI. 2011.

104. **Kert Tamm**. Wave Propagation and Interaction in Mindlin-Type Microstructured Solids: Numerical Simulation. 2011.

105. Adrian Popp. Ordovician Proetid Trilobites in Baltoscandia and Germany. 2011.

106. **Ove Pärn**. Sea Ice Deformation Events in the Gulf of Finland and This Impact on Shipping. 2011.

107. **Germo Väli**. Numerical Experiments on Matter Transport in the Baltic Sea. 2011.

108. Andrus Seiman. Point-of-Care Analyser Based on Capillary Electrophoresis. 2011.

109. **Olga Katargina**. Tick-Borne Pathogens Circulating in Estonia (Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum, Babesia* Species): Their Prevalence and Genetic Characterization. 2011.

110. **Ingrid Sumeri**. The Study of Probiotic Bacteria in Human Gastrointestinal Tract Simulator. 2011.

111. Kairit Zovo. Functional Characterization of Cellular Copper Proteome. 2011.

112. **Natalja Makarytsheva**. Analysis of Organic Species in Sediments and Soil by High Performance Separation Methods. 2011.

113. **Monika Mortimer**. Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on Unicellular Pro- and Eukaryotic Organisms. 2011.

114. **Kersti Tepp**. Molecular System Bioenergetics of Cardiac Cells: Quantitative Analysis of Structure-Function Relationship. 2011.

115. Anna-Liisa Peikolainen. Organic Aerogels Based on 5-Methylresorcinol. 2011.

116. **Leeli Amon**. Palaeoecological Reconstruction of Late-Glacial Vegetation Dynamics in Eastern Baltic Area: A View Based on Plant Macrofossil Analysis. 2011.

117. **Tanel Peets**. Dispersion Analysis of Wave Motion in Microstructured Solids. 2011.

118. Liina Kaupmees. Selenization of Molybdenum as Contact Material in Solar Cells. 2011.

119. Allan Olspert. Properties of VPg and Coat Protein of Sobemoviruses. 2011.

120. Kadri Koppel. Food Category Appraisal Using Sensory Methods. 2011.

121. Jelena Gorbatšova. Development of Methods for CE Analysis of Plant Phenolics and Vitamins. 2011.

122. **Karin Viipsi**. Impact of EDTA and Humic Substances on the Removal of Cd and Zn from Aqueous Solutions by Apatite. 2012.

123. **David Schryer**. Metabolic Flux Analysis of Compartmentalized Systems Using Dynamic Isotopologue Modeling. 2012.

124. Ardo Illaste. Analysis of Molecular Movements in Cardiac Myocytes. 2012.

125. **Indrek Reile**. 3-Alkylcyclopentane-1,2-Diones in Asymmetric Oxidation and Alkylation Reactions. 2012.

126. **Tatjana Tamberg**. Some Classes of Finite 2-Groups and Their Endomorphism Semigroups. 2012.

127. **Taavi Liblik**. Variability of Thermohaline Structure in the Gulf of Finland in Summer. 2012.

128. Priidik Lagemaa. Operational Forecasting in Estonian Marine Waters. 2012.

129. **Andrei Errapart**. Photoelastic Tomography in Linear and Non-linear Approximation. 2012.

130. **Külliki Krabbi**. Biochemical Diagnosis of Classical Galactosemia and Mucopolysaccharidoses in Estonia. 2012.

131. **Kristel Kaseleht**. Identification of Aroma Compounds in Food using SPME-GC/MS and GC-Olfactometry. 2012.

132. **Kristel Kodar**. Immunoglobulin G Glycosylation Profiling in Patients with Gastric Cancer. 2012.

133. **Kai Rosin**. Solar Radiation and Wind as Agents of the Formation of the Radiation Regime in Water Bodies. 2012.

134. **Ann Tiiman**. Interactions of Alzheimer's Amyloid-Beta Peptides with Zn(II) and Cu(II) Ions. 2012.

135. **Olga Gavrilova**. Application and Elaboration of Accounting Approaches for Sustainable Development. 2012.

136. **Olesja Bondarenko**. Development of Bacterial Biosensors and Human Stem Cell-Based *In Vitro* Assays for the Toxicological Profiling of Synthetic Nanoparticles. 2012.

137. **Katri Muska**. Study of Composition and Thermal Treatments of Quaternary Compounds for Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2012.

138. **Ranno Nahku**. Validation of Critical Factors for the Quantitative Characterization of Bacterial Physiology in Accelerostat Cultures. 2012.

139. **Petri-Jaan Lahtvee**. Quantitative Omics-level Analysis of Growth Rate Dependent Energy Metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. 2012.

140. **Kerti Orumets**. Molecular Mechanisms Controlling Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Baker's Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its Random Mutagenized Glutathione Over-Accumulating Isolate. 2012.

141. **Loreida Timberg**. Spice-Cured Sprats Ripening, Sensory Parameters Development, and Quality Indicators. 2012.

142. Anna Mihhalevski. Rye Sourdough Fermentation and Bread Stability. 2012.

143. Liisa Arike. Quantitative Proteomics of *Escherichia coli*: From Relative to Absolute Scale. 2012.

144. Kairi Otto. Deposition of In₂S₃ Thin Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2012.

145. **Mari Sepp**. Functions of the Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Transcription Factor TCF4 in Health and Disease. 2012.

146. **Anna Suhhova**. Detection of the Effect of Weak Stressors on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2012.

147. **Aram Kazarjan**. Development and Production of Extruded Food and Feed Products Containing Probiotic Microorganisms. 2012.

148. **Rivo Uiboupin**. Application of Remote Sensing Methods for the Investigation of Spatio-Temporal Variability of Sea Surface Temperature and Chlorophyll Fields in the Gulf of Finland. 2013.

149. Tiina Kriščiunaite. A Study of Milk Coagulability. 2013.

150. **Tuuli Levandi**. Comparative Study of Cereal Varieties by Analytical Separation Methods and Chemometrics. 2013.

151. **Natalja Kabanova**. Development of a Microcalorimetric Method for the Study of Fermentation Processes. 2013.

152. Himani Khanduri. Magnetic Properties of Functional Oxides. 2013.

153. Julia Smirnova. Investigation of Properties and Reaction Mechanisms of Redox-Active Proteins by ESI MS. 2013.

154. **Mervi Sepp**. Estimation of Diffusion Restrictions in Cardiomyocytes Using Kinetic Measurements. 2013.

155. **Kersti Jääger**. Differentiation and Heterogeneity of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. 2013.

156. Victor Alari. Multi-Scale Wind Wave Modeling in the Baltic Sea. 2013.

157. **Taavi Päll**. Studies of CD44 Hyaluronan Binding Domain as Novel Angiogenesis Inhibitor. 2013.

158. Allan Niidu. Synthesis of Cyclopentane and Tetrahydrofuran Derivatives. 2013.

159. Julia Geller. Detection and Genetic Characterization of *Borrelia* Species Circulating in Tick Population in Estonia. 2013.

160. **Irina Stulova**. The Effects of Milk Composition and Treatment on the Growth of Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2013.

161. Jana Holmar. Optical Method for Uric Acid Removal Assessment During Dialysis. 2013.

162. **Kerti Ausmees**. Synthesis of Heterobicyclo[3.2.0]heptane Derivatives *via* Multicomponent Cascade Reaction. 2013.

163. **Minna Varikmaa**. Structural and Functional Studies of Mitochondrial Respiration Regulation in Muscle Cells. 2013.

164. Indrek Koppel. Transcriptional Mechanisms of BDNF Gene Regulation. 2014.

165. **Kristjan Pilt**. Optical Pulse Wave Signal Analysis for Determination of Early Arterial Ageing in Diabetic Patients. 2014.

166. **Andres Anier**. Estimation of the Complexity of the Electroencephalogram for Brain Monitoring in Intensive Care. 2014.

167. **Toivo Kallaste**. Pyroclastic Sanidine in the Lower Palaeozoic Bentonites – A Tool for Regional Geological Correlations. 2014.

168. **Erki Kärber**. Properties of ZnO-nanorod/In₂S₃/CuInS₂ Solar Cell and the Constituent Layers Deposited by Chemical Spray Method. 2014.

169. Julia Lehner. Formation of Cu₂ZnSnS₄ and Cu₂ZnSnSe₄ by Chalcogenisation of Electrochemically Deposited Precursor Layers. 2014.

170. **Peep Pitk**. Protein- and Lipid-rich Solid Slaughterhouse Waste Anaerobic Codigestion: Resource Analysis and Process Optimization. 2014.

171. **Kaspar Valgepea**. Absolute Quantitative Multi-omics Characterization of Specific Growth Rate-dependent Metabolism of *Escherichia coli*. 2014.

172. **Artur Noole**. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Synthesis of 3,3'-Disubstituted Oxindoles. 2014.

173. **Robert Tsanev**. Identification and Structure-Functional Characterisation of the Gene Transcriptional Repressor Domain of Human Gli Proteins. 2014.

174. **Dmitri Kartofelev**. Nonlinear Sound Generation Mechanisms in Musical Acoustic. 2014.

175. **Sigrid Hade**. GIS Applications in the Studies of the Palaeozoic Graptolite Argillite and Landscape Change. 2014.

176. **Agne Velthut-Meikas**. Ovarian Follicle as the Environment of Oocyte Maturation: The Role of Granulosa Cells and Follicular Fluid at Pre-Ovulatory Development. 2014.

177. **Kristel Hälvin**. Determination of B-group Vitamins in Food Using an LC-MS Stable Isotope Dilution Assay. 2014.

178. **Mailis Päri**. Characterization of the Oligoadenylate Synthetase Subgroup from Phylum Porifera. 2014.

179. Jekaterina Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing of *TAF4*: A Dynamic Switch between Distinct Cell Functions. 2014.

180. **Jaanus Suurväli**. Regulator of G Protein Signalling 16 (RGS16): Functions in Immunity and Genomic Location in an Ancient MHC-Related Evolutionarily Conserved Synteny Group. 2014.

181. **Ene Viiard**. Diversity and Stability of Lactic Acid Bacteria During Rye Sourdough Propagation. 2014.

182. Kristella Hansen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in Marine Arthropods and Red Algae. 2014.

183. Helike Lõhelaid. Allene Oxide Synthase-lipoxygenase Pathway in Coral Stress Response. 2015.

184. **Normunds Stivrinš**. Postglacial Environmental Conditions, Vegetation Succession and Human Impact in Latvia. 2015.

185. **Mary-Liis Kütt**. Identification and Characterization of Bioactive Peptides with Antimicrobial and Immunoregulating Properties Derived from Bovine Colostrum and Milk. 2015.

186. **Kazbulat Šogenov**. Petrophysical Models of the CO₂ Plume at Prospective Storage Sites in the Baltic Basin. 2015.

187. **Taavi Raadik**. Application of Modulation Spectroscopy Methods in Photovoltaic Materials Research. 2015.

188. **Reio Põder**. Study of Oxygen Vacancy Dynamics in Sc-doped Ceria with NMR Techniques. 2015.

189. **Sven Siir**. Internal Geochemical Stratification of Bentonites (Altered Volcanic Ash Beds) and its Interpretation. 2015.

190. **Kaur Jaanson**. Novel Transgenic Models Based on Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes for Studying BDNF Gene Regulation. 2015.

191. **Niina Karro**. Analysis of ADP Compartmentation in Cardiomyocytes and Its Role in Protection Against Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening. 2015.

192. **Piret Laht**. B-plexins Regulate the Maturation of Neurons Through Microtubule Dynamics. 2015.

193. **Sergei Žari**. Organocatalytic Asymmetric Addition to Unsaturated 1,4-Dicarbonyl Compounds. 2015.

194. **Natalja Buhhalko**. Processes Influencing the Spatio-temporal Dynamics of Nutrients and Phytoplankton in Summer in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. 2015.

195. **Natalia Maticiuc**. Mechanism of Changes in the Properties of Chemically Deposited CdS Thin Films Induced by Thermal Annealing. 2015.

196. Mario Öeren. Computational Study of Cyclohexylhemicucurbiturils. 2015.

197. Mari Kalda. Mechanoenergetics of a Single Cardiomyocyte. 2015.

198. **leva Grudzinska**. Diatom Stratigraphy and Relative Sea Level Changes of the Eastern Baltic Sea over the Holocene. 2015.

199. Anna Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing in Health and Disease. 2015.

200. Jana Kazarjan. Investigation of Endogenous Antioxidants and Their Synthetic Analogues by Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

201. **Maria Safonova**. SnS Thin Films Deposition by Chemical Solution Method and Characterization. 2016.

202. **Jekaterina Mazina**. Detection of Psycho- and Bioactive Drugs in Different Sample Matrices by Fluorescence Spectroscopy and Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

203. **Karin Rosenstein**. Genes Regulated by Estrogen and Progesterone in Human Endometrium. 2016.

204. **Aleksei Tretjakov**. A Macromolecular Imprinting Approach to Design Synthetic Receptors for Label-Free Biosensing Applications. 2016.

205. **Mati Danilson**. Temperature Dependent Electrical Properties of Kesterite Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2016.